**JACC** Report

No 28

Ethyl Acrylate CAS No. 140-88-5

September 1994

ISSN-0773-6339-28

# **ECETOC**

# Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals No. 28

Ethyl Acrylate
CAS No. 140-88-5

September 1994

### LIST OF ECETOC PUBLICATIONS (continued inside back cover)

### MONOGRAPHS

No.	Title
No. 1	Good Laboratory Practice, Oct 79
No. 2	Contribution to Strategy for Identification and Control of Occupational Carcinogens. Sep 80
No. 2	Definition of a Mutagen, for 6th Amendment. Sep 80
No. 3	Risk Assessment of Occupational Chemical Carcinogens. Jan 82
No. 4	Hepatocarcinogenesis in Laboratory Rodents: Relevance for Man. Oct 82
No. 5	Identification and Assessment of the Effects of Chemicals on Reproduction and Development (Reproductive Toxicology). Dec 83
No. 6	Acute Toxicity Tests, LD <sub>s0</sub> (LC <sub>s0</sub> ) Determinations and Alternatives. May 85
No. 7	Recommendations for the Harmonisation of International Guidelines for Toxicity Studies. Dec 85
No. 8	Structure-Activity Relationships in Toxicology and Ecotoxicology: An Assessment Feb 86
No. 9	Assessment of Mutagenicity of Industrial and Plant Protection Chemicals. Jun 87
No. 10	Identification of Immunotoxic Effects of Chemicals and Assessment of their Relevance to Man. Aug 87
No. 11	Eye Irritation Testing. Jun 88
No. 12	Alternative Approaches for the Assessment of Reproductive Toxicity (with emphasis on embryotoxicity/teratogenicity). Nov 89
No. 13	DNA and Protein Adducts: Evaluation of their Use in exposure Monitoring and Risk Assessment. Oct 89
No. 14	Skin Sensitisation Testing. Mar 90
No. 15	Skin Irritation. Jul 90
No. 16	Mutation Research, Special Issue: Early Indicators of Non-Genotoxic Carcinogenesis. Jun 91
No. 17	Hepatic Peroxisome Proliferation. May 92
No. 18	Evaluation of the Neurotoxic Potential of Chemicals. Sep 92
No. 19	Respiratory Allergy. Aug 93
No. 20	Percutaneous Absorption, Aug 93

### JACC REPORTS

No.	Title
No. 1	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Melamine. Feb 83
No. 2	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, 1,4-Dioxane. Feb 83
No. 3	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Methyl Ethyl Ketone, Feb 83
No. 4	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Methylene Chloride. Jan 84
No. 5	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Vinylidene Chloride. Aug 85
No. 6	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Xylenes. Jun 86
No. 7	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Ethylbenzene. Aug 86
No. 8	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Methyl Isobutyl Ketone. May 87
No. 9	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Chlorodifluoromethane. Oct 89
No. 10	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Isophorone. Sep 69
No. 11	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, (HFA-132b) 1.2-Dichloro-1,1-Difluoroethane. May 90
No. 12	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, (HFA-124) 1-Chloro-1,2,2,2-Tetrafluoroethane. May 90
No. 13	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, (HFA-123) 1.1-Dichloro-2,2,2-Trifluoroethane. May 90
No. 14	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, (HFA-133a) 1-Chloro-2,2,2-Trifluoromethane. Aug 90
No. 15	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, (HFA-141B) 1-Fluoro 1,1-Dichloroethane. Aug 90
No. 16	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, (HCFC-21) Dichlorofluoromethane. Aug 90
No. 17	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, (HFA-142b) 1-Chloro-1,1,Difluoroethane. Feb 91
No. 18	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Vinylacetate. Feb 91
No. 19	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Dicyclopentadiene. Jul 91
No. 20	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Tris-/Bis-/Mono-(2-ethylhexyl)phosphate. May 92
No. 21	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Tris-{2-butoxyethyl}-phosphate. Mar 92
No. 22	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Hydrogen Peroxide. Jan 93
No. 23	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Polycarboxylate Polymers as Used in Detergents. Nov 93
No. 24	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, (HFC-125) Pentatluoroethane. May 94
No. 25	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, (HCFC-124) 1-Chloro-1,2.2,2-Tetrafluoroethane. Jul 94
No. 26	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Linear Polydimethylsdoxanes (viscosity 10-10,000 centisokes). Sep 94
No. 27	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, n-Butyl Acrylate. CAS No. 141-32-2. Aug 94
No. 28	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Ethyl Acrylate. CAS No. 140-88-5

# Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals No. 28

Ethyl Acrylate

CAS No. 140-88-5

September 1994

ISSN-0773-6339-28

### **ECETOC JACC Report No. 28**

© Copyright - ECETOC (European Centre for Ecotoxicology and Toxicology of Chemicals), 4 Avenue E. Van Nieuwenhuyse (Bte 6), 1160 - Brussels, Belgium.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, copied, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise without the prior written permission of the copyright holder. Applications to reproduce, store, copy or translate should be made to the Director. ECETOC welcomes such applications. Reference to the document, its title and summary may be copied or abstracted in data retrieval systems without subsequent reference.

The content of this document has been prepared and reviewed by experts on behalf of ECETOC with all possible care and from the available scientific information. It is provided for information only. ECETOC cannot accept any responsibility or liability and does not provide a warranty for any use or interpretation of the material contained in the publication.

### THE ECETOC SCHEME FOR THE JOINT ASSESSMENT OF COMMODITY CHEMICALS

This report has been produced as part of the ECETOC programme for preparing critical reviews of the toxicology and ecotoxicology of selected existing industrial chemicals.

In the programme, commodity chemicals, that is those produced in large tonnage by several companies and having widespread and multiple uses, are jointly reviewed by experts from a number of companies with knowledge of the chemical. It should be noted that in a JACC review only the chemical itself is considered; products in which it appears as an impurity are not normally taken into account.

ECETOC is not alone in producing such reviews. There are a number of organisations that have produced and are continuing to write reviews with the aim of ensuring that toxicological knowledge and other information are evaluated. Thus a Producer, Government Official or Consumer can be informed on the up-to-date position with regard to safety, information and standards. Within ECETOC we do not aim to duplicate the activities of others. When it is considered that a review is needed every effort is made to discover whether an adequate review exists already; if this is the case the review is checked, its conclusions summarised and the literature published subsequent to the review assessed. To assist ourselves and others working in this field we publish annually a summary of international activities incorporating work planned, in hand, or completed on the review of safety data for commodity chemicals. Interested readers should refer to our Technical Report No. 30 entitled "Existing Chemicals: Literature Reviews and Evaluations".

This document presents a critical assessment of the toxicology and ecotoxicology of ethylacrylate (CAS No.140-88-5). The report forms part of a series of on acrylates and methacrylates.



# Ethyl Acrylate CAS No. 140-88-5

### CONTENTS

SECTION 1.	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	1
SECTION 2.	IDENTITY, PHYSICAL AND CHEMICAL PROPERTIES, ANALYTICAL	
	METHODS	3
2.1	IDENTITY	3
2.2	PHYSICAL AND CHEMICAL PROPERTIES	4
2.3	CONVERSION FACTORS	4
2.4	ANALYTICAL METHODS	4
SECTION 3.	PRODUCTION, STORAGE, TRANSPORT AND USE	6
3.1	PRODUCTION	6
3.2	STORAGE	6
3.3	USE	6
SECTION 4.	ENVIRONMENTAL DISTRIBUTION AND TRANSFORMATION	8
4.1	EMISSIONS	8
4.2	ENVIRONMENTAL DISTRIBUTION	8
4.3	ENVIRONMENTAL FATE AND BIOTRANSFORMATION	9
SECTION 5.	ENVIRONMENTAL LEVELS AND HUMAN EXPOSURE	12
5.1	ENVIRONMENTAL LEVELS	12
5.2	OCCUPATIONAL EXPOSURE LEVELS AND HYGIENE STANDARDS	13
SECTION 6.	EFFECTS ON ORGANISMS IN THE ENVIRONMENT	15
6.1	MICRO-ORGANISMS	15
6.2	AQUATIC ORGANISMS	15
6.3	TERRESTRIAL ORGANISMS	15
6.4	EVALUATION	16

SECTION 7.	KINETICS AND METABOLISM	17
7.1	ABSORPTION AND DISTRIBUTION	17
7.2	METABOLISM AND EXCRETION	18
7.3	SUMMARY AND EVALUATION	22
SECTION 8.	EFFECTS ON EXPERIMENTAL ANIMALS AND IN VITRO TEST	
	SYSTEMS	23
8.1	ACUTE TOXICITY	23
8.2	IRRITATION AND SENSITISATION	26
8.3	SUBCHRONIC TOXICITY	30
8.4	GENETIC TOXICITY	33
8.5	CHRONIC TOXICITY AND CARCINOGENICITY	38
8.6	REPRODUCTIVE AND TERATOGENIC EFFECTS	40
SECTION 9.	EFFECTS ON MAN	42
9.1	IRRITATION	42
9.2	SENSITISATION	42
9.3	CHRONIC TOXICITY	42
9.4	EPIDEMIOLOGY	43
9.5	SUMMARY	44
SECTION 10.	ASSESSMENT OF HUMAN CARCINOGENIC HAZARD	45
SECTION 11.	FIRST AID AND SAFE HANDLING ADVICE	47
11.1	FIRST AID AND MEDICAL TREATMENT	47
11.2	SAFE HANDLING	47
11.3	MANAGEMENT OF SPILLAGE AND WASTE	49
BIBLIOGRAPH	Υ	50
ACKNOWLED	GEMENT	57
MEMBERS OF	THE TASK FORCE	58
MEMBERS OF	THE SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE	50

### SECTION 1. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Ethyl acrylate (EA) is an industrial chemical used in the manufacture of polymers and copolymers, which are used in a variety of products including latex paints, binders, polishes and adhesives. At room temperature it is a clear liquid with a pungent odour. Production in the USA, Western Europe and Japan was 220 kt in 1984.

Data on emissions to the environment are not available. The majority (90%) of EA released to the environment is expected to enter into the atmosphere, where its half-life is estimated to be 6.5 hours. In water, any EA which is not volatilised is expected to biodegrade readily under aerobic conditions, hydrolysis playing only a minor role. No data are available on the fate of EA in soils.

The acute toxicity of EA to aquatic organisms is > 1 mg/l, it is readily biodegradable and does not bioaccumulate. Thus EA need not be classified as dangerous to the environment according to the EC 7th amendment of Council Directive 67/548/EEC. Because of its distribution into the environment and biodegradability in aquatic systems, toxic concentrations of EA are unlikely to occur in water during normal use.

EA is irritant to the skin, eyes and mucous membranes, and may cause skin sensitisation in experimental animals and man. Cross-sensitisation may also occur to other acrylic acid esters.

Studies in experimental animals have shown that EA is of low oral and dermal toxicity, and moderately toxic via the inhalation route. The observed effects of EA are associated with local tissue damage and irritation at the site of contact. The severity of such damage is related to the concentration, duration and frequency of exposure. The absence of any observed systemic effects is consistent with absorption and metabolism studies which show that EA is rapidly absorbed and metabolised following oral or inhalation exposure. There are 2 basic metabolic pathways for EA; both are detoxifying. The first and most significant pathway is carboxylesterase hydrolysis of the ester bond, resulting in the formation of ethanol and acrylic acid, both of which are further metabolised to CO<sub>2</sub> (acrylic acid via the propionic acid pathway). The second and minor pathway is conjugation of EA with glutathione followed by urinary excretion as mercapturic acids.

EA is not teratogenic in rats at inhalation exposure concentrations up to 150 ppm, the maximum level examined, which is toxic to the dams. There is no evidence for specific embryotoxicity or foetotoxicity at non-maternally toxic concentrations.

EA is not mutagenic to bacteria or mammalian cells *in vivo*, but has *in vitro* clastogenic activity. EA is considered not to be clastogenic *in vivo* and is expected not to be genotoxic in man.

EA does not induce tumours in dermal, inhalation and drinking water studies of experimental animals. In an oral gavage study, where EA was administered in corn oil to rats and mice for their life-time, the animals developed forestomach tumours at high doses which caused chronic inflammatory changes in the forestomach. No tumours were seen in any other organs or tissue. In a drinking water study which delivered equivalent doses at lower concentrations, neither irritation nor forestomach tumours were produced. Thus, the induction of forestomach tumours by EA in experimental animals is considered not to be relevant to human beings. Epidemiological studies showed no evidence for carcinogenic effects causally related to EA exposure. It is concluded that EA does not present a carcinogenic hazard to man.

# SECTION 2. IDENTITY, PHYSICAL AND CHEMICAL PROPERTIES, ANALYTICAL METHODS

### 2.1 IDENTITY

Name:

Ethyl acrylate

IUPAC name:

2-Propenoic acid, ethyl ester

Synonyms:

Acrylic acid, ethyl ester

D:

Ethylacrylat

2-Propensäure, Ethyl-ester

DK:

Ethylacrylat

F:

Acrylate d'éthyle

EL:

Ακρυλικός αίθυλεστέρας

I:

Acrilato di etile

Etile acrilato

NL:

Ethylacrylaat

ES:

Acrilato de etilo

CAS name:

2-Propenoic acid, ethyl ester

CAS registry No:

140-88-5

EEC No:

607-032-00-X

EINECS No:

205-438-8

Formula:

C<sub>5</sub>H<sub>8</sub>O<sub>2</sub>

Molecular mass:

100.12

Structural formula:

 $CH_2 = CH - C - O - CH_2 - CH_3$  0

### 2.2 PHYSICAL AND CHEMICAL PROPERTIES

Ethyl acrylate (EA) is a clear, flammable liquid with a pungent, fruity odour. It is soluble in water and completely miscible with most organic solvents. Data on the physical and chemical properties of EA are given in Table 1.

A typical commercial sample of EA has a specified purity of  $\ge 99.7\%$  (w/w) and may contain the following specified impurities: water ( $\le 0.05\%$  w/w) and acid ( $\le 0.01\%$  w/w, calculated as acrylic acid) (BASF, 1988a).

EA polymerises readily under the influence of heat or light and by catalysis (e.g. metals). This is a strongly exothermic reaction. To prevent uncontrolled polymerisation, the monomer is stabilised by the addition of an inhibitor such as the monomethyl ether of hydroquinone (MeHQ) at levels of 15±5 ppm (w/w) (BASF, 1988a) (Section 3.2).

#### 2.3 CONVERSION FACTORS

Conversion factors for concentrations of EA in air at 20°C and 1,013 hPa are:

- $\blacksquare$  1 ppm = 4.16 mg/m<sup>3</sup>
- $1 \text{ mg/m}^3 = 0.240 \text{ ppm}$

### 2.4 ANALYTICAL METHODS

### 2.4.1 Environmental Media

The presence of EA in air can be determined by trapping EA from gaseous samples on active carbon then desorbing with  $CS_2$  followed by gas chromatography analysis (GC) equipped with a flame ionisation detector (FID) (White *et al*, 1970); the limit of detection is 2 mg/sample (NIOSH, 1984). Alternative GC column packings have been recommended to improve the separation of EA from other low-molecular-weight esters (Langvardt and Ramstad, 1981). Parsons and Mitzner (1975) and Pellizari *et al* (1984) replaced the active carbon trap by a tube of Tenax followed by thermal desorption before GC. Detection limits for these methods were not specified.

Table 1 Physical and Chemical Properties

Parameter, units	Value	Reference
Melting temperature, °C, approximately	-72	BASF, 1988a
Boiling temperature, °C at 1,013 hPa, approximately	100	BASF, 1988a
Heat of polymerisation, kJ/kg	655	BASF, 1988a
Relative density $D_4^{20}$ (density of water at 4°C is 1,000 kg/m <sup>3</sup> )	0.922 0.9224	BASF, 1988a Elf Atochem, 1990
Viscosity, mPa −s at 25°C	0.55	BASF, 1988a
Refractive index, n <sub>D</sub> at 20°C	1.404	Elf Atochem, 1990
Vapour pressure, hPa at 20°C	38 39.2	BASF, 1988a Elf Atochem, 1990
Vapour density at 20°C (air=1)	3.5	Elf Atochem, 1990
Threshold odour concentration, ppm	0.0012 0.00047	Amoore and Hautala, 1983 Leonardos <i>et al</i> , 1969 <sup>a</sup>
Surface tension, mN/m at 20°C	25.2	Gallant, 1958; Dauber and Danner, 1989
Solubility in water, g/kg at 25°C	15-20	Lyman <i>et al</i> , 1990; BASF, 1988a
Solubility of water in EA, g/kg at 25°C	15	Lyman <i>et al</i> , 1990; BASF, 1988a
Miscible with most organic solvents	Yes	BASF, 1988a
Fat solubility, mg/100 g at 37°C	No data	
Partition coefficient, log P <sub>ow</sub> (octanol/water) at 20°C	1.33 1.18 1.28	Tanii and Hashimoto, 1982 (measured) BASF, 1988b (measured) Blum <i>et al</i> , 1991 (calculated)
Partition coefficient, log $K_\infty$ (organic carbon/water) at 20°C	1.32	Hansch and Leo, 1985
Henry's Law constant, Pa -m³/mol at 20°C	25.3	Calculated
Flash point, °C, closed cup	8	BASF, 1988a
Explosion limits, % at 7-43°C	1.8-12	BASF, 1988a
Auto-flammability, ignition temperature, °C	355	BASF, 1988a

a Also cited by Stahl (1973) and Sandmeier and Kirwin (1978)

Tepikina *et al* (1988) reported a detection limit of 4 ng when trapping EA on Polysorb, then thermal desorbing and analysis by a GC/FID. Bosserman and Ketcham (1980) trapped EA on activated silica gel and desorbed it with acetone for GC with a limit of sensitivity of 0.05 ppm.

No methods are available for the determination of EA in water, soil and sediments.

### 2.4.2 Biological Media

A high-pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) method for the determination of EA and its metabolites in animal tissues and urine has been described by De Bethizy *et al* (1987). No detection limit was given for this method.

### SECTION 3. PRODUCTION, STORAGE, TRANSPORT AND USE

### 3.1 PRODUCTION

The largest volume of EA is produced commercially by catalysed esterification of acrylic acid with ethanol. Other, less widely used manufacturing processes include the reaction of acetylene with carbon monoxide and ethanol in the presence of nickel carbonyl and hydrogen chloride as catalysts.

Production in the USA, Western Europe and Japan was 220 kt in 1984 (SRI, 1987).

### 3.2 STORAGE

To prevent polymer formation during storage and shipping, a stabiliser such as MeHQ is added (Section 2.2). The effectiveness of phenolic inhibitors requires the presence of oxygen, and the monomer must therefore be stored in the dark, under air (not under inert gases) and at a temperature below 25°C if peroxide and polymer formation is to be minimised.

EA is normally stored or shipped in containers made of mild or stainless steel, or aluminium.

### 3.3 USE

EA is used to prepare homopolymers and copolymers with other monomers such as acrylic acid and its salts, amides and esters; methacrylates, acrylonitrile, maleic acid esters, vinyl acetate, vinyl chloride, vinylidene chloride, styrene, butadiene, unsaturated polyesters and drying oils. These polymers and copolymers are used in a variety of products including latex paints, binders, polishes and adhesives. As EA readily enters into addition reactions with numerous organic and inorganic compounds, it is a valuable starting product for chemical synthesis (BASF, 1988a).

The quantities of EA consumed in 1988 were 150 kt in the USA and 20 kt in Japan. The consumption in Western Europe was not reported, but was estimated to be 80 kt in 1987 (SRI, 1990).

The consumption pattern of acrylates in Western Europe in 1984 for different applications is shown in Table 2.

Table 2 Consumption Pattern of Acrylates in 1984 in Western Europe (SRI, 1990)

Application	%
Surface coatings	35 - 40
Textiles, non-wovens, leather	10 - 15
Adhesives	15
Paper coatings	15 - 20
Fibres and plastics comonomer	10
Other	10

# SECTION 4. ENVIRONMENTAL DISTRIBUTION AND TRANSFORMATION

### 4.1 EMISSIONS

### 4.1.1 Emissions During Production

EA is normally manufactured in a closed plant. EA vapours from vented equipment and tanks are destroyed by flaring, as are vapours resulting from processing. Quantitive information is not available.

Waste-water produced during manufacture and processing of EA is handled in waste-water treatment plants (Section 4.3.4).

### 4.1.2 Emissions During Use

No data are available.

### 4.1.3 Natural Sources

EA occurs naturally in pineapples (Haagen-Smit *et al*, 1945), passion fruit (Toulemonde and Beauverdi, 1985) and raspberries (Randolph, 1982).

### 4.2 ENVIRONMENTAL DISTRIBUTION

EA can be considered to have a significant volatility from aqueous solutions (Thomas, 1982). On the basis of its solubility in water of 20 g/l, Lyman *et al* (1990) estimated a soil sorption coefficient of 19. A moderate to high mobility potential may be expected from this value.

Using the fugacity model of Mackay and Patterson (1981) a theoretical distribution can be calculated indicating that the majority (89.9%) of EA released into the environment will enter the atmosphere. Most of the remainder will be found in the water-phase, with a negligible amount in the soil (Table 3).

0.1

0.0

Compartment	%
Air	89.9
Water	10.0

Soil

Sediment

Table 3 Estimated Distribution Between Environmental Compartments at 20°C

### 4.3 ENVIRONMENTAL FATE AND BIOTRANSFORMATION

### 4.3.1 Atmospheric Fate

In the atmosphere, EA will be decomposed by photooxydation with hydroxyl radicals and tropospheric ozone.

Two rate constants for the reaction of EA with ozone have been determined experimentally, 1.96x10<sup>-18</sup> cm<sup>3</sup>/molecule/s at 25°C (Kirchner *et al*, 1976) and 5.7x10<sup>-18</sup> cm<sup>3</sup>/molecule/s (temperature not specified) (Munshi *et al*, 1989). In both cases, the ozone consumption was determined by UV absorption.

The atmospheric half-life of EA is estimated to be 6.5 h (US-EPA, 1987). Based on this very short half-life, it is concluded that EA will not reach the stratosphere and will not present any risk of ozone depletion.

### 4.3.2 Aquatic Fate

EA is not likely to persist in surface waters because of its ready biodegradability (J-CITI, 1992). Though soluble at ambient temperature, the Henry's Law constant indicates that EA will evaporate into the atmosphere (Table 1). The volatilisation half-life was estimated to be 5.5 hours from a model river (Lyman *et al*, 1990) and 2.4 days from a model pond with inclusion of adsorption effects (US-EPA, 1987). Some hydrolysis may occur, principally under alkaline conditions. The hydrolysis half-life was estimated to be 10.3 days at pH 9, 2.8 and 244 years at pHs 7 and 5 respectively (Mabey and Mill, 1978). The data were confirmed by Archer (1990) who found a hydrolysis half-life of 182 min at pH 11, 1.5x10<sup>3</sup> days at pH 7 and 6.7x10<sup>3</sup> days at pH 3.

### 4.3.3 Terrestrial Fate

Data on the fate of EA accidentally spilt on soils are not available.

In a spill-type situation EA is likely to polymerise to an innocuous resin (US-EPA, 1987). Diluted EA is unlikely to polymerise, but will evaporate into the atmosphere.

### 4.3.4 Biodegradation

#### Aerobic

In Japan, EA is classified as readily biodegradable (J-CITI, 1992). A biodegradation of more than 30% was achieved within 2 weeks in the modified MITI test (Sasaki, 1978). The  $BOD_5$  was equivalent to 74-77% of the COD (BASF, 1986; Flaherty, 1989). This would classify EA as readily biodegradable according to the 7th amendment of Council Directive 67/548/EEC (EEC, 1992).

The biodegradability of EA (3.7 and 10 mg/l) was tested in fresh water, with adapted and non-adapted micro-organisms, and in artificial sea-water with non-adapted micro-organisms. In freshwater, the biodegradation ranged from 11% with unadapted microorganisms to 79% with adapted microorganisms after 20 days. In sea water, a biodegradation of 53% is achieved within the same period (Price *et al.*, 1974).

### Anaerobic

A mixture of acetic acid and small amounts of various acrylates, including EA, was tested in 2 continuously operated, anaerobic, experimental reactors for a period of 7 days. The biodegradability of the acrylates was 100%. Methane production was not inhibited (Dohányos *et al*, 1988).

Microorganisms cultured on acetate-rich media caused 95% decomposition of EA after 110 days acclimation (Lin Chou et al, 1979).

Waste-water from factories producing acrylic acid-based resins, adhesives, synthetic fibres and other products, contained acrylic acid and small amounts of acetic, valeric and propionic acid as well as acrylic esters. These compounds were biodegraded to 100% over a period of 7 days (Dohanyos *et al.*, 1988).

### 4.3.5 Bioaccumulation

The *n*-octanol/water partition coefficient (log  $P_{ow}$ ) lies between 1.18 and 1.33 (Table 1), and was concluded that EA has no potential for bioaccumulation (Blum and Speece, 1991). Using the equation: log BCF = 0.76 x log  $P_{ow}$  - 0.23 (Lyman *et al*, 1990), a theoretical bioaccumulation factor of 5-6 has been estimated.

### 4.3.6 Evaluation

The majority (90%) of EA released to the environment is expected to enter into the atmosphere, where its half-life is estimated to be 6.5 hours. In water, any EA which is not volatilised is expected to biodegrade readily under aerobic conditions, hydrolysis playing only a minor role. No data are available on the fate of EA in soils. EA is not expected to bioaccumulate.

# SECTION 5. ENVIRONMENTAL LEVELS AND HUMAN EXPOSURE

### 5.1 ENVIRONMENTAL LEVELS

### 5.1.1 Air

The main environmental compartment for EA is air, where its half-life is short. Ambient air monitoring data are not available.

Inside an administration building in the USA, the indoor air concentration was 0.01-0.50 ppm (Yocom et al, 1984).

#### 5.1.2 Water

In one study in the USA, Kaufman (1982) found 200 mg EA/I in only 1 contaminated ground water sample. Because the site and source of the contamination were not specified, it is assumed that this figure is not typical for groundwater contamination.

#### 5.1.3 Soil

No data available.

### 5.1.4 Biological Media

#### **Foodstuffs**

EA is a natural constituent of certain fruits (Section 4.1.1). It has also been detected in preserved pineapple juice (Ohta *et al*, 1987).

EA was detected in spoiled mussels at a concentration of 0.07 mg/kg (fresh weight), whereas it was not found in fresh mussels (detection limit not stated) (Yasuhara, 1987).

EA is classified in the GRAS list (US-FDA, 1982, 1986a,b,c,d).

### Other Biological Media

No data are available.

### 5.2 OCCUPATIONAL EXPOSURE LEVELS AND HYGIENE STANDARDS

### 5.2.1 Occupational Exposure

The available data on EA concentrations in workplace air are presented in Table 4.

Table 4 Concentrations in Air at the Workplace

Job category	Country	Number of samples	Concentration (ppm)	Reference
Acrylate production	Not stated	33	1-14ª	Kuželová <i>et al</i> , 1981
Plastic manufacture	New Zealand	Unknown	2.75-155.5 <sup>b</sup>	Jones <i>et al</i> , 1981
Paint factory - personal exposure - workplace	USA	Unknown	<0.10-5.8 <0.11-0.54	Belanger and Coye, 1981
Polystyrene factory <sup>c</sup> - personal exposure - workplace	North America	Unknown	<0.001-0.844 <0.001-57 <sup>d</sup>	Samimi and Falbo, 1982

a Calculated from 4-58 mg/m<sup>3</sup>

For additional information concerning North America, see McLaughlin et al (1993).

### 5.2.2 Hygiene Standards

Most industrialised countries have adopted occupational exposure limit values (Table 5).

b Calculated from 12-670 mg/m<sup>3</sup>

c At the monomer discharging ramp

d EA was dripping due to a leaky hose

Table 5 Occupational Exposure Limit Values

Country	8-h	TWA	STEL		Reference
	(ppm)	(mg/m³)ª	(ppm)	(mg/m³)ª	
Australia	5	20			ILO, 1991
Austria	5	20	÷	200	DFG, 1992
Belgium	5	20	25	100	ACGIH, 1992
Denmark	5	20		:2:	ILO, 1991
Finland	5	20	10	40	ILO, 1991
France	5	20	¥	-	INRS, 1988
Germany	5	20		(40)	DFG, 1992
Italy	5	20	*	1.50	ACGIH, 1992
Hungary	<u> </u>	,	<u></u>	10 <sup>b</sup>	ILO, 1991
Netherlands	*	100	•	*	Arbeidsinspectie, 1991
Norway	5	20	*	).e.;	Arbeidstilsynet, 1990
Sweden	5	20	10	40	AFS, 1990
Switzerland	5	20	10	40	ILO, 1991
UK	5	20	15°	60°	UK-HSE, 1992
USA	5	20 20	15	61 100	ACGIH, 1992 OSHA/NIOSH, 1986 as quoted in ILO, 1991
USSR	*	( <b>e</b> )	•	5	ILO, 1991

TWA Time-weighted average concentration (8-h working period)

STEL Short-term exposure limit (15 min, unless specified otherwise)

a Official values; some countries use different conversion factors and/or other ambient temperature

b Ceiling value

c 10 min

# SECTION 6. EFFECTS ON ORGANISMS IN THE ENVIRONMENT

### 6.1 MICRO-ORGANISMS

In a bacteriostatic test with *Pseudomonas putida* the effect concentrations determined after 17 hours incubation at 20°C were:  $EC_{10}$  710 mg/l,  $EC_{50}$  1,500 mg/l and  $EC_{90}$  2,400 mg/l (BASF, 1990).

Lin Chou et al (1978) investigated the effect of EA on non-adapted micro-organisms from domestic sewage sludge and showed that the addition of 500 mg EA/I caused a 50% reduction of gas production.

Blum et al (1991) reported a 24h- $IC_{50}$  of 46.8 mg/l and 132 mg/l respectively for Nitrosomas and methanogenic bacteria.

### 6.2 AQUATIC ORGANISMS

In a 'test of the inhibition of cell division of *Scenedesmus subspicatus* the effect concentrations determined after 72 hours incubation at 20°C were:  $EC_{20}$  30 mg/l,  $EC_{50}$  48 mg/l and  $EC_{90}$  120 mg/l (BASF, 1991). A 96 hour static  $EC_{50}$  of 11 mg/l was found for the algae *Seleastrenum capricornutum* Printz (Forbis, 1990).

Acute toxicity tests with EA have been performed on invertebrates and fish (Table 6).

A 14-day  $LC_{50}$  value for the guppy (*Poecilia reticulata*) is 0.74 mg/l (Hermens and Leeuwangh, 1982).

### 6.3 TERRESTRIAL ORGANISMS

In a 2 week test at 22-26°C, EA vapours (20 mg/2.6 I desiccator, i.e. 1,846 ppm) inhibited fungal growth on bread following inoculation with various fungal spores (Huhtanen and Guy, 1984).

Table 6 Aquatic Toxicity

Test species		Concentration (mg/l)	Reference
Crustacea	Immobilisation		
Daphnia magna	48h EC <sub>50</sub>	4.4	BASF, 1988c
Daphnia magna	48h EC <sub>50</sub>	7.9	Burgess, 1990
Artemia salina	24h EC <sub>50</sub>	12	Price et al, 1974
Fish	Lethality		
Leuciscus idus	96h LC <sub>so</sub>	>10-<22	BASF, 1989
Carassius auratus	72h LC <sub>50</sub>	5	Paulet and Vidal, 1975
Oncorhynchus mykiss	96h LC <sub>50</sub>	4.6	Bowman, 1990
(Salmo gairdneri)			

### 6.4 EVALUATION

The acute toxicity of EA to aquatic organisms is > 1 mg/l, it is readily biodegradable and does not bioaccumulate. Thus EA need not be classified as dangerous to the environment according to the EC 7th amendment of Council Directive 67/548/EEC (EEC, 1992).

Because of its distribution into the environment and biodegradability in aquatic systems, toxic concentrations of EA are unlikely to occur in water during normal use.

### SECTION 7. KINETICS AND METABOLISM

### 7.1 ABSORPTION AND DISTRIBUTION

Absorption of EA from the gastrointestinal tract and respiratory tract is both extensive and rapid. Ghanayem *et al* (1987), for example, reported that more than 90% of <sup>14</sup>C-labelled EA in corn oil, dosed by oral gavage to F344 rats (dose 100, 200 or 400 mg/kgbw), was absorbed within 4 hours with negligible amounts of radioactivity being detected in the stomach contents 24 hours after dosing. Tissue-distribution analysis showed that at 4 hours after dosing the highest concentrations of radioactivity were in the forestomach, glandular stomach, intestine, liver and kidneys. Fractionation of the forestomach and liver showed that in the liver the highest amount of radioactivity was associated with the lipid fraction, while in the forestomach the highest percentage of EA-derived radioactivity was 'bound' to the protein. By 24 hours after dosing, the majority of the radioactivity had been cleared, although in the stomach, significant quantities were still associated with the protein fraction. No binding to nucleic acids could be detected (limit of detection 1 alkylation per 10<sup>4</sup> nucleotides).

Stott and McKenna (1984) demonstrated that in rats exposed 'nose-only' to an atmosphere containing 225 ppm EA, absorption reached an apparent plateau within 10 to 20 min and then remained relatively constant. Approximately 60% of the dose was absorbed through the upper respiratory tract for the duration of the study (2 h).

Absorption of EA through the skin is significantly lower than from the gastrointestinal tract or respiratory tract. Delbressine *et al* (1980), and Seuller and Rijinits (1981) have suggested that EA may be metabolised within the skin and is therefore not widely distributed. An alternative view was presented by Tomlinson *et al* (1989) who considered that the low rate of absorption was due to the rapid evaporation of EA from the skin surface (95% evaporation from a skin sample in a Franz cell held at 37°C).

The effects of absorbed EA on tissue non-protein sulphydryl groups (NPSH), an indicator of cellular glutathione (GSH), has been investigated by De Bethizy *et al* (1987). Severe dose-related depletion of NPSH was observed in the forestomachs and glandular stomachs of rats 1 hour after oral dosing with EA (20, 100 or 200 mg/kgbw in 0.5% aqueous methylcellulose). No adverse effects were noted on hepatic NPSH content. When rats were pre-treated with tri-*o*-cresyl phosphate (TOCP), a carboxylesterase inhibitor, EA produced a dramatic reduction in liver NPSH levels. These findings

serve to indicate the importance of the hydrolytic pathway for EA detoxification (De Bethizy et al, 1987).

### 7.2 METABOLISM AND EXCRETION

Metabolism of EA occurs via 2 basic pathways, hydrolysis and conjugation (Figure 1). Both pathways are detoxifying.

### 7.2.1 Hydrolysis

Hydrolysis of EA, catalysed by carboxylesterases, is the primary route of metabolism. The ester bond is rapidly hydrolysed, generating ethanol and acrylic acid. The acrylic acid is further metabolised to acetyl coenzyme A (acetyl-SCoA) via the propionic acid pathway (Figure 1) (De Bethizy *et al.*, 1987; see also ECETOC, 1994a).

Frederick et al (1991) showed that EA is rapidly hydrolysed in the upper respiratory tract (Table 7).

Table 7 Hydrolysis of EA in the Upper Respiratory Tract of the Rat (Frederick et al, 1994)

Region	V <sub>max</sub> (¡¿mol/ml/h)	K <sub>m</sub> (mM)	Estimated half-life (s)
Respiratory epithelium	437 ± 70	0.39 ± 0.11	0.23 ± 0.10
Olfactory epithelium (septum)	1,330 ± 180	$0.38 \pm 0.02$	0.07 ± 0.01
Olfactory epithelium (dorsal meatus)	1,362 ± 354	0.33 ± 0.06	$0.06 \pm 0.01$

The importance of the hydrolytic route in detoxification was demonstrated by the potentiation of both lethality and irritancy of inhaled EA following pretreatment of rats with TOCP, which inhibits esterases (Silver and Murphy, 1981). Stott and McKenna (1984) estimated that approximately 50% of the EA that passes through the upper respiratory tract will be hydrolysed by carboxylesterases before reaching the general circulation. The enzymatic hydrolysis of EA was evaluated in tissue homogenates obtained from 14 different F344 rat tissues. Carboxylesterase activity (as evidenced from  $V_{max}$ ,  $K_m$  and estimated half-life) was widely distributed throughout the tissues examined with the liver showing the greatest  $V_{max}$  (Table 8).

As shown in Table 7 the hydrolytic half-life of EA in the upper respiratory tract tissues is also short; ranging from 0.06 seconds for olfactory epithelium to 0.23 seconds for respiratory epithelium (Frederick *et al*, 1991).

Figure 2 Metabolic Pathways in Rats (after De Bethizy et al, 1987)

Table 8 Ester Hydrolysis of EA by Tissue Homogenates from Male F344 Rats (Frederick and Chang-Mateu, 1990)

Tissue	V <sub>max</sub> (μmol¹/ml tissue/min) mean (range)	K <sub>m</sub> mean (range)	Estimated half-life (min)
Liver	32.2 (20.2-47.3)	1.85 (1.32-2.28)	0.04
Lung	5.8 (5.6-6.0)	2.03 (1.47-2.58)	0.24
Kidney	3.5 (2.5-5.4)	15.18 (5.0-21.1)	3.01
Skin	0.86 (0.77-0.95)	15.18 (5.44-5.46)	4.33
Muscle	0.17	4.47	17.33
Fat	1.6	5.02	2.24
Blood	0.18 (0.08-0.27)	4.60 (1.32-7.71)	17.33
Forestomach	0.26 (0.23-0.28)	3.15 (2.38-3.91)	8.66
Glandular stomach	0.32 (0.31-0.33)	4.40 (4.01-4.79)	9.90
Duodenum	0.55	8.23	9.90
Small intestine	0.67	5.21	5.33
Caecum	0.79	3.93	3.46
Large intestine	0.54	4.75	6.30
Colon	0.28 (0.27-0.28)	4.16 (2.25-7.57)	9.90

Acrylic acid formed

### 7.2.2 Conjugation

The second of the 2 pathways of EA metabolism is conjugation of the ethenyl group ( $CH_2$ =CH—) with the sulphydryl group of GSH and subsequent excretion of mercapturic acid derivatives in the urine. The reaction with GSH can occur either directly through a Michael addition reaction or enzymatically via GSH transferases.

Conjugation has been demonstrated by identification of mercapturic acid derivatives in the urine of rats (Delbressine, 1981; Delbressine *et al*, 1982), by the *in vivo* reduction of NPSH levels in tissues of experimental animals exposed to EA (De Bethizy *et al*, 1987; Frederick *et al*, 1990) and by *in vitro* binding of EA to GSH (Miller *et al*, 1981; Silver and Murphy, 1981; Tanii and Hashimoto, 1982).

Both N-acetyl-S-(2-carboxyethyl) cysteine and its cysteine, ethyl ester have been detected in the urine of rats dosed with EA. The presence of N-acetyl-S-(2-carboxyethyl) cysteine is thought to

occur via de-esterification of its cysteine, ethyl ester, rather than by reaction of acrylic acid with GSH (De Bethizy et al, 1987; Frederick and Reynolds, 1989).

The relationship between glutathione conjugation and the detoxification of EA has been the subject of a number of studies. Silver and Murphy (1981) demonstrated that the lethality of EA increased in animals pretreated with TOCP. This increased lethality corresponded to a decrease in NPSH levels in the lungs, liver, blood, and kidneys and was correlated with the histopathological changes (Pozzani *et al*, 1949; US-NTP, 1983; De Bethizy *et al*, 1987; Frederick and Chang-Mateu, 1990). De Bethizy *et al* (1987) found a linear depletion of the NPSH content of the forestomach following oral doses of 0-20 mg EA/kgbw. Doses of EA that essentially depleted the forestomach NPSH content, produced little effect on hepatic NPSH level. The dose-effect curves of NPSH content of the stomach paralleled the excretion of the sulphydryl derivatives of EA in the urine, suggesting that at low concentrations, the primary site of metabolism is the tissue at the dosing site. Inhibition of carboxylesterases had no significant effect on the EA induced depletion of forestomach NPSH, but produced significant EA induced reductions in hepatic NPSH. The authors conclude that the rodent stomach is a unique tissue as carboxylesterase hydrolysis of EA does not compete effectively with sulphydryl depletion.

### 7.2.3 Other Possible Metabolic Pathways

EA contains an ethenyl group and it is theoretically possible that epoxidation of this group could occur during metabolic transformation. No evidence has been found for the presence of epoxidation products, namely 2,3-epoxypropionic acid, N-acetyl-S-(2-carboxy-2-hydroxyethyl)cysteine and its ethyl ester, in the urine of rats dosed with EA (Delbressine *et al*, 1982; De Bethizy *et al*, 1987). Furthermore, these metabolites were not found when EA was incubated with 'fortified' rat liver microsomes *in vitro* (De Bethizy *et al*, 1987). Therefore, it is concluded that it is unlikely that the ethenyl group of EA will be epoxidised *in vivo*. Further studies (Frederick *et al*, 1989; Udinsky and Frederick, 1989; Frederick and Chang-Mateu, 1990) indicate that EA induced changes in the rat forestomach only after marked (>75%) depletion of NPSH. In contrast, the same dose of EA did not cause NPSH depletion or changes in the glandular stomach or liver.

### 7.2.4 Binding to Protein

The direct Michael addition of EA with GSH suggests that it may be able to react with sulphydryl groups in proteins. Ghanayem *et al* (1987) found radioactivity tightly associated with the protein fraction of the forestomachs and livers of rats dosed with  $^{14}$ C-labelled EA (Section 7.1). EA is rapidly metabolised to  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  fragments that freely enter the normal synthetic pathways of the

cell (Figure 1). Thus, while the presence of radioactivity could indicate direct alkylation, it may also indicate metabolic incorporation.

### 7.3 SUMMARY AND EVALUATION

EA is rapidly absorbed and metabolised following oral or inhalational exposure. There are insufficient data to draw any conclusion on absorption and metabolism following dermal exposure.

In common with the other simple acrylate esters, there are 2 basic metabolic pathways for EA, both are detoxifying. The first and most significant pathway is carboxylesterase hydrolysis of the ester bond, resulting in the formation of ethanol and acrylic acid, both of which are further metabolised to  $CO_2$  (acrylic acid via the propionic acid pathway). In the nasal mucosa, EA is rapidly hydrolysed  $(t_{1/2} = 0.23 \text{ s})$  to acrylic acid and ethanol, effectively limiting transport of EA from the mucosa into the circulatory system. This, coupled with its relatively rapid half-life in the lung  $(t_{1/2} = 0.24 \text{ min}, 14.4 \text{ s})$  may explain why, following inhalation of non-saturating doses, EA would not reach levels where systemic toxicity would be expected.

The second and minor pathway is conjugation of EA with GSH which occurs either spontaneously (Michael addition) or catalysed by GSH transferases. The mercapturic acid derivatives, with or without hydrolysis of the ester link, are rapidly excreted in the urine. There is no evidence for the formation of an epoxide or any other toxic metabolites. The ubiquitous distribution of carboxylesterases, glutathione and its transferases together with non-protein sulphydryl groups (NPSH) groups is likely to prevent or limit the entry of EA into the systemic circulation and internal organs.

# SECTION 8. EFFECTS ON EXPERIMENTAL ANIMALS AND IN VITRO TEST SYSTEMS

### 8.1 ACUTE TOXICITY

### 8.1.1 Oral

Acute oral LD<sub>so</sub> values are detailed in Table 9.

Table 9 Acute Oral Toxicity

Species	LD <sub>so</sub> (g/kgbw)	Reference	
Rat	1	Pozzani <i>et al</i> , 1949 ; Paulet and Vidal, 1975	
Rat	0.55 (approximately) <sup>1</sup>	Oettel and Hofmann, 1958	
Rat	0.5-5.0	Rohm and Haas, 1984	
Mouse	1.8	Tanii and Hashimoto, 1982	
Mouse	1.3	Rohm and Haas, 1950	
Rabbit	1.8	Tanii and Hashimoto, 1982	
Rabbit	0.37 (approximately)	Oettel and Hofmann, 1960	
Rabbit	0.28 <sup>2</sup>	Treon <i>et al</i> , 1949	

- 1 Calculated from ml/kgbw
- 2 Minimum lethal dose

Based on the available data on acute oral toxicity (Table 9), EA is classified as harmful ( $LD_{50}$  0.2-2 mg/kgbw) in accordance with the 7th amendment of Council Directive 67/548/EEC (EEC, 1992).

Rats dosed orally with EA exhibited 'sluggishness, prostration and narcosis prior to death' (Pozzani *et al*, 1949) or slight tumbling and prone position after 24 hours (Oettel and Hofmann, 1958a). Rats that received a single oral dose of EA in corn oil exhibited signs of general depression and severe gastric irritation (Rohm and Haas, 1984).

Female rabbits dosed with EA exhibited 'lethargy and distention of the veins in the ears soon after dosing followed by running movements of the legs, tremors, spasms of the diaphragm, laboured respiration, cyanosis and reduced body temperature'. All animals treated with EA died within 12

hours after dosing (Treon *et al*, 1949). In rabbits treated at lethal concentrations, atonia, prone and side position shortly before death were seen (Oettel and Hofmann, 1960).

Cats exhibited salivation and vomiting within 10 minutes after gavage (Oettel and Hofmann, 1960).

Clinical observations were not reported in the other studies shown in Table 9.

#### 8.1.2 Dermal

Acute dermal LD<sub>50</sub> values are detailed in Table 10.

Table 10 Acute Dermal Toxicity

Species	Application	LD <sub>50</sub> (g/kgbw)	Reference
Rat	Occlusive	2-5	Rohm and Haas, 1986a
Rat	Unocclusive	>5	Rohm and Haas, 1986b
Mouse	Occlusive	2-5	Rohm and Haas, 1986c
Mouse	Unocclusive	>5	Rohm and Haas, 1986d
Rabbit	Unocclusive	1.81	Pozzani <i>et al</i> , 1949

<sup>1</sup> Calculated from mi/kgbw

No lethality was observed in rabbits following 3 or 24 occlusive dermal applications within 1-2 days (at intervals of 10 or 20 minutes, total exposure time 1 or 4 hours) using undiluted EA (total dose 5.4 or 40.7 g/kgbw). Conversely, all rabbits which received 30 or 38 applications within 1 day (at intervals of 5 or 10 min, total exposure time 5 or 6 h) using undiluted EA (total dose 49.8 or 69.1 g/kgbw) died within 16 hours of treatment. At necropsy, local reddening, oedema, necrosis and inflammation of the skin were observed; the heart, liver and kidneys showed hyperaemia and tissue degeneration, and the lungs hyperaemia and oedema (Treon *et al*, 1949).

EA was applied for 24 hours under occluded or unoccluded conditions to groups of mice and rats. No significant clinical signs were observed during the 14 day observation period and no gross changes were observed at necropsy in either mice or rats treated under unoccluded conditions at 5g EA/kgbw. Under occluded conditions both the mice and rats exhibited signs or general depressed activity, erythema, oedema, blanching and eschar (Rohm and Haas, 1986a,b,c,d).

#### 8.1.3 Inhalation

Acute inhalation  $LC_{50}$  values are detailed in Table 11, while lethality data from acute inhalation studies from which  $LC_{50}$  values cannot be calculated are presented in Table 12.

Table 11 Acute Inhalation Toxicity

Species	Time (h)	LC <sub>50</sub> (ppm)	Reference
Rat	4	>1,500	Silver and Murphy, 1981
Rat	4	2,180	Oberly and Tansy, 1985
Rat	Not specified	1,8001	Lomonova and Klimova, 1979
Mouse	Not specified	3,8901	Lomonova and Klimova, 1979

<sup>1</sup> Calculated from 7,500 mg/m³ and 16,200 mg/m³

Oberly and Tansy (1985) reported that rats exposed to EA via inhalation exhibited signs of respiratory irritation progressing to dyspnoea, convulsions, sedation and death secondary to anoxia.

Species	Time	Concentration (ppm)	Deaths/ animals used	Reference
Rat	5 min	50,000	0/6	Pozzani <i>et al</i> , 1949
	15 min	50,000	6/6	
	4 h	1,000	0/6	
	4 h	2,000	5/6	
	4 h	4,000	6/6	
Rat	4 min	Saturated 20°C	0/6	Oettel and Hofmann,
	8 min	Saturated 20°C	2/6	1958
	15 min	Saturated 20°C	6/6	
Guinea pig	7 h	1,204	2/2	Treon <i>et al</i> , 1949
Rabbit	7 h	1,204	4/4	Treon et al, 1949

Signs of EA toxicity and findings at necropsy were reported as agitation, dyspnoea, irritation to eyes and nose, hyperaemia and haemorrhages in the lungs. These findings were attributed to the irritant effect of EA (Pozzani *et al*, 1949; Treon *et al*, 1949; Oettel and Hofmann, 1982). In the studies of Treon *et al* (1949), all animals died and exhibited the following clinical signs prior to death: coughing, hiccoughing, salivation, rale, conjunctival and nasal irritation, prostration, ataxia, convulsive movements, spasmodic respiration and diarrhoea.

Concentration-related decreases in respiratory frequency, tidal volume, and rectal temperature were seen in rats exposed to EA at concentrations of 100, 200, 300, and 500 ppm. Pretreatment with the carboxylesterase inhibitor TOCP (which decreases the enzymatic hydrolysis of the ester, thereby increasing the effective concentration of ester in the tissues) enhanced the toxic effects (Silver *et al.*, 1981).

### 8.1.4 Summary

Acute toxicity studies in experimental animals show that EA is of low oral and dermal toxicity, and moderately toxic via the inhalation route. The main signs of toxicity and gross-pathological findings are consistent with the local irritant and corrosive effects.

### 8.2 IRRITATION AND SENSITISATION

### 8.2.1 Skin irritation

Single exposures (4 h) of rabbit skin to EA under occluded conditions produced severe erythema and oedema. Pocketing oedema and/or erythema with eschar, sloughing and scar formation persisted for 2 weeks after exposure (Bernacki and Hamilton, 1991). Unoccluded application of EA to the skin of rabbits produced only 'minor injection of capillaries' in 2 out of 5 treated animals and no reaction in the other 3 animals (Pozzani *et al.*, 1949).

Undiluted EA (0.2 ml/kgbw) was tested for its irritating effect on the skin of 2 rabbits under occluded conditions following the method of Hill. Exposures for 1, 5 and 15 min induced acute inflammation of the skin in the form of a cushion-like oedema and formation of crust and superficial scar. Similar symptoms occurred after 20 hour exposure. After a 3 week recovering period, no skin damage was seen (Oettel and Zeller, 1958).

Occlusive treatment of the skin of rats with EA for 24 hours resulted in severe erythema, pocketing oedema, eschar and desiccation (Rohm and Haas, 1986a). Unoccluded treatment produced only slight transient erythema (Rohm and Haas, 1986b).

Occlusive application of EA to the skin of mice produced severe erythema, moderate oedema, eschar and blanching of the skin (Rohm and Haas, 1986c), whereas unocclusive application produced no irritation (Rohm and Haas, 1986d).

Occlusive applications (multiple times/d) of EA to rabbit skin for 1-2 days resulted in inflammation of varying severity, intense oedema and in some instances haemorrhagic areas (Treon *et al*, 1949). Repeated applications of EA also resulted in marked hyperaemia, haemorrhage and ulceration (Lomonova and Klimova, 1979). The paper also reports toxicological studies in mice, rats and rabbits, but it is not clear to which species these effects relate.

# 8.2.2 Respiratory Irritation

Rats and mice were exposed to EA at 25 or 75 ppm for 27 months, or 225 ppm for 6 months, and then held for an additional 21 months. The animals developed concentration-related histopathological changes in the olfactory epithelium of the nasal turbinates, including nasal cell hyperplasia, increased intraepithelial glands, respiratory metaplasia, diffuse atrophy and multifocal mineralisation. Exposure to 225 ppm resulted in clinical signs indicative of irritation and aggression at the start of each 6 hours exposure period and signs of lethargy at the end of the exposure period (Miller *et al.*, 1985).

Rabbits, guinea pigs, rats and monkeys were exposed (7 h/d) to EA at increasing concentrations. Exposure to concentrations of 24 to 75 ppm for 50 to 130 days showed no signs of irritation. Exposure to 272 ppm for 28 days produced varying degrees of irritation, including slight salivation, slight conjunctivital and nasal irritation, lethargy and diarrhoea in rats, moderate gasping in guinea pigs, moderate conjunctivital and nasal irritation, lethargy, gasping and convulsive movements in rabbits, and slight irritation of mucous membranes and slight lethargy in a monkey. When the exposure concentrations were increased to 501 or 1,204 ppm, the severity of the respiratory and sensory irritation also increased. The respiratory effects at the highest concentrations were altered by the effects of hypoxia resulting from compromised respiratory function (Treon *et al.*, 1949).

Single exposure (4 h) of rats to EA at 1,538 to 3,001 ppm produced signs of irritation of the eyes, nose and respiratory tract including laboured breathing, blanching of the ears and paws, and death (Oberly and Tansy, 1985).

Single exposure (approximately 5 min) of mice to EA at 315 ppm produced a 50% reduction in the breathing rate (RD<sub>so</sub>) (De Ceaurriz *et al.* 1981).

# 8.2.3 Gastrointestinal Tract Irritation

Oral administration of EA (dissolved in propylene glycol; dose 180-940 mg/kgbw) to rabbits produced severe local irritation of the gastrointestinal tract (Treon et al, 1949).

EA (0.1-4% in corn oil) was administered orally (estimated dose 7-270 mg/kgbw) to starved male Charles-River-strain F344/DU Crj rats for 18 hours. The animals were killed 3 hours later. Forestomach oedema and relative weight had increased in proportion to the EA dose. This effect was not found in the glandular stomach (Morimoto *et al*, 1990). An increase in the weight of the forestomach following administration of EA (4% in 0.5% aqueous methyl cellulose) to male Sprague-Dawley rats was also reported by De Bethizy *et al* (1987).

Single administration by gavage of EA (2, 4 or 8% dissolved in corn oil at a constant volume of 5 ml/kgbw, equivalent to doses of 100, 200 or 400 mg EA/kgbw) to male F344 rats resulted in dose-and concentration-dependent oedema of the mucosa and the submucosa, vacuolation of the muscular coat in the forestomach and oedema of the submucosa in the glandular stomach. There was also an increase in the forestomach-weight/body-weight ratios. The changes were detectable after 2 hours and were pronounced after 8 and 24 hours (Ghanayem *et al*, 1985a).

Single doses of EA (200 mg/kgbw), ethyl propionate (saturated analogue; 204 mg/kgbw) and ethyl methacrylate (corresponding methacrylic ester; 228 mg/kgbw) were administered by gavage to groups of male F344 rats. The rats produced gastric effects only with EA. In an aqueous suspension EA was more irritating than in corn oil. The authors discussed the role of a  $C_2$ - $C_3$  double bond, an ester group and an unsubstituted  $C_2$  for gastric irritation. They concluded that the hydrolysis products of EA, acrylic acid and ethanol are not responsible for the gastric effects (Ghanayem *et al*, 1985b).

The incidence of oedema in the forestomach increased when male F344 rats pretreated with cysteine or cysteamide (sulphydryl containing chemicals) were given orally doses of EA (dissolved in corn oil; 100, 200 and 400 mg EA/kgbw). In contrast, pretreatment with diethyl-maleate or by fasting gave significant protection against EA-induced forestomach oedema. The authors were unable to provide an explanation (Ghanayem *et al.*, 1991a,b).

The correlation between glutathione depletion in the forestomach and gastric toxicity was also demonstrated by Frederick *et al* (1990). The quantitative correlation of glutathione induction to labelling index in the rat forestomach was further explored by Gillette and Frederick (1993). This study demonstrated that the severe glutathione depletion in the forestomach resulting from a high dose of EA was followed by a prolonged S-phase induction of epithelial cells in the tissue. By contrast, the glandular stomach, which does not exhibit histopathological indications of toxicity, did not have severe glutathione depletion and only a transient S-phase response. A combined time-course dose-response labelling index study following two weeks of gavage dosing of EA indicated

that a clear threshold in the induction of S-phase activity was observed at 10 mg/kg (0.2 % dosing solution).

## 8.2.4 Eye irritation

Severe necrosis was observed within 24 hours after application of 0.5 ml of EA to the cornea of rabbit eyes; 0.1 ml produced moderate necrosis under the same conditions (Pozzani *et al*, 1949). No detectable ocular effects occurred following inhalation exposure of rats to EA at 75 ppm for 27 months (Miller *et al*, 1985).

One drop of undiluted EA placed into the conjunctival sac of one eye of each of 2 rabbits produced pronounced reddening and slight cloudiness of the cornea. After 1 day, one rabbit exhibited no adverse reaction to treatment whereas a slight reddening was observed in the eye of the other. After 3 days, no effects could be observed in either animal (Oettel and Zeller, 1958).

#### 8.2.5 Skin Sensitisation

Parsons and Baldwin (1981), using a Buehler protocol modified for 9 induction doses, showed that EA sensitised guinea pigs. In a comparative study, guinea pigs were only sensitised to EA with Freund's Complete Adjuvant (Van der Walle *et al*, 1982b).

Guinea pigs sensitised to EA exhibited cross-sensitisation to challenges with *n*-butyl, *t*-butyl, pentyl, neopentyl, and *n*-hexyl acrylates, but not to the corresponding methacrylates (Van der Walle and Bensink, 1982). Polymerisation inhibitors were not responsible for these cross-reactivities (Van der Walle *et al*, 1982a).

Applications of up to 5% EA were negative in the murine local lymph node assay (Kimber, 1992).

# 8.2.6 Summary

EA is irritant to the skin, eyes, gastrointestinal tract and respiratory tract of experimental animals at low exposure concentrations. These irritant effects are seen only at the site of first contact, even at high exposure concentrations. EA can produce allergic dermatitis in guinea pigs and may cross-react with other acrylic esters. Although the data are equivocal and variable, it may be concluded that EA does not have a strong sensitising potential.

## 8.3 SUBCHRONIC TOXICITY

#### 8.3.1 Oral

Groups of F344 rats received EA (dissolved in corn oil) by gavage at a constant volume of 5 ml/kgbw (equivalent to doses of 0, 2, 10, 20, 50, 100, or 200 mg EA/kgbw/d) for 5 or 10 days. Dose-related gastric irritation developed after 5 or 10 days of treatment at doses of 20 mg/kgbw/d and above. No signs of systemic toxicity were detected at any dose (Rohm and Haas, 1986).

The toxicity of EA has been examined in two 14-day gavage studies using F344 rats and B6C3F<sub>1</sub> mice (5/sex/group). In the first study, EA was administered as a solution in aqueous ethanol to rats (dose levels 0, 55, 110, 225, 450 or 900 mg EA/kgbw/d) and mice (0, 25, 55, 110, 225, or 450 mg EA/kgbw/d). In the second study, EA was administered as a solution in corn oil to rats and mice (dose levels 0, 100, 200, 400, 600 or 800 mg EA/kgbw/d). In either study, the principal toxic effect of EA was confined to the forestomach of both sexes and species, and there was no evidence of systemic toxicity. In the first study, all rats of the 450 mg/kgbw/d group died within 24 hours. All rats receiving 225 or 450 mg/kgbw/d, 1 female rat of the 110 mg EA/kgbw/d group and 8 or 9 mice receiving 450 mg/kgbw/d (1 mouse of this group died) had thickened necrotic mucosa in the forestomach. No histopathological examinations were performed in the first study. In the second study, using corn oil as the vehicle, the histological lesions of the forestomach included ulceration, inflammation, hyperplasia and hyperkeratosis. The LOEL for histological changes in the forestomach was 400 mg EA/kgbw in the rat and 200 mg EA/kgbw in the mouse (US-NTP, 1986).

A third 14-day study, using drinking water as the exposure vehicle, was poorly conducted and because of severe technical problems, including instability of EA in the drinking water, it is not considered further (US-NTP, 1986).

EA (dissolved in corn oil) was administered by gavage to mice (dose levels 0, 1.5, 3, 6, 12 or 25 mg EA/kgbw/d and 0, 12, 25, 50 or 100 mg EA/kgbw/d) and rats (0, 7, 14, 28, 55 or 110 mg EA/kgbw/d) for 103 weeks. In the 2 mouse studies were there no treatment-related effects on gross or microscopic examination. In the rat study, macroscopic effects were restricted to the top dose group, including reddening of the duodenum (1 male) and dilation of the blood vessels in the cardiac region of the stomach (2 males). There were no compound-related signs of toxicity and no histopathological changes could be attributed to the treatment.

The histopathological and biochemical response of the stomach of male F344 rats (10/group) was examined following oral dosing with EA (dissolved in corn oil) for 2 weeks. The rats were treated

with EA by either gavage (0, 2, 10, 20, 50, 100 or 200 mg EA/kgbw/d) or via their drinking water (0, 23, 99, 197 or 369 mg EA/kgbw/d). Rats dosed by gavage showed histopathological changes of the forestomach characterised by focal epithelial cell hyperplasia, hyperkeratosis, subacute to chronic submucosal inflammation, submucosal oedema and ulceration/erosion. The lesions had increased in incidence and severity over the 20-200 mg EA/kgbw/d dose range. The NOEL for histopathological effects was between 10 and 20 mg EA/kgbw/d. In contrast, rats dosed with EA via their drinking water showed much lower incidences of forestomach effects at corresponding doses, the NOEL being between 23 and 99 mg/kgbw. Non-protein sulphydryl group (NPSH) content of the forestomach, glandular stomach and liver were measured between 2 to 24 hours after the last gavage dose. The data showed, that 6 hour after the final treatment the NPSH levels in the forestomach of rats dosed at 200 mg EA/kgbw/d were 90% lower than the untreated controls. Rats receiving a corresponding dose in their drinking water showed no reduction in forestomach NPSH levels. The authors concluded that bolus dosing of EA produced severe depletion of NPSH in the forestomach with resulting histopathological lesions (Frederick et al, 1990). The 2 week dose-response studies with EA in rats were followed by 90-day gavage and drinking water dosing studies (Frederick and Chang-Mateu, 1990) that indicated that there was no progression of the lesions in the forestomach. These studies confirmed hyperkeratosis and hyperplasia at gavage doses of > 100 mg/kg and a NOEL at 10 mg/kg.

When EA (dissolved corn-oil) was administered by gavage to rats (10/sex/group) at doses of 0-110 mg EA/kgbw/d and mice (2 x 10/sex/group) at 0-100 mg EA/kgbw/d; no compound-related gross or microscopic pathological effects were seen in any of the tissues examined including the forestomach (US-NTP, 1986).

## 8.3.2 Inhalation

Sherman albino rats (10/sex/group) and albino rabbits (4 males/group) were exposed to atmospheres containing EA at concentrations of 0 and 540 ppm (7 h/d, 5 d/wk) for a maximum of 19 days. At 540 ppm, 13 out of 19 rats died by day 19 and the study was terminated. Histopathological examination of the lungs of the rats that had died revealed 'pneumonic involvement'. These changes were usually accompanied by cloudy swelling of the renal tubules and occasionally by congestion and cloudy swelling of the liver. The cause of death of the 13th rat could not be ascertained due to severe autolysis of the tissues before autopsy. The lungs of 5 of the 6 surviving rats showed 'incipient pneumonic involvement' but no renal or hepatic effects. The other surviving rat had normal lungs and light cloudy swelling of the liver. The authors concluded that the renal and hepatic effects might be an effect secondary to the effect observed in the lungs.

All 4 rabbits exposed to EA at 540 ppm died within 2 days, while 2 of the 4 rabbits in the control group died within 30 days (Pozzani et al, 1949).

Sherman albino rats (15/sex/group) and albino rabbits (9 males/treatment group; 8 controls) were exposed (7 h/d, 5 d/wk) to EA at 0, 70 or 300 ppm for a maximum of 30 days. Eighteen of the 30 rats exposed to EA at 300 ppm died during the 30-day exposure period. Ten of these rats exhibited the same pneumonic, kidney and liver effects as observed in the rats exposed to 540 ppm (above). Five of the rats exhibited congestion of the lungs, cloudy swelling and congestion of the liver and excessive pigmentation of the spleen. The tissues of the other 3 rats that had died prior to the end of the study could not be used due to autolysis. Most (9 of 12) surviving rats showed no tissue changes, the remaining 3 rats exhibiting only minor histological alterations of the lung or the liver. Rats exposed to EA at 70 ppm showed no differences from control group animals except for an increase in the kidney weight of male rats. Histopathological examination revealed no abnormalities. All 9 rabbits exposed to EA at 300 ppm died within 7 days; 8 rabbits had 'catarrhal pneumonic involvement' usually accompanied by moderate damage of the liver. Three of the 8 control animals died of pulmonary infection. At 70 ppm, 2 of 8 rabbits died within 30 days, compared with 3 of 8 control rabbits. The authors concluded that the mortality caused by pulmonary infection among the rabbits in the control group lead them to view the results with extreme caution (Pozzani et al, 1949).

F344 rats and B6C3F<sub>1</sub> mice (10/sex/group) were exposed (6 h/d, 5 d/wk) to atmospheres containing 0, 75, 150, and 300 ppm EA for 30 days. Animals exposed to 300 ppm appeared lethargic during the first 2 weeks of exposure. Decreased body-weight gain was seen in male and female rats and male mice exposed to 150 or 300 ppm EA. Alterations in relative kidney and liver weights were also detected but there were no corresponding histological findings. Examination of the nasal turbinates from male mice and rats in the 0 and 300 ppm groups revealed inflammation, degeneration, focal necrosis and squamous metaplasia in rats and less pronounced squamoid alterations of the nasal mucosa in mice exposed to EA. The primary effect was on the olfactory epithelium lining the dorsomedial aspects; some areas of the olfactory epithelium and the respiratory epithelium appeared to be unaffected. Based on the decreased body-weight gain and difference in relative liver and kidney weight, the NOEL was 75 ppm in both species and the LOEL 150 ppm in both species. As only the 0 and 300 ppm groups were subjected to histopathological examination an overall NOEL could not be determined (Miller *et al.*, 1979).

In another study, in which rats and mice were exposed (6 h/d, 5 d/wk) to 0.02 mg EA/I (5 ppm) for 24 months, no treatment-related effects in the nasal mucosa were observed. The NOEL on the nasal mucosa was therefore 5 ppm (Miller *et al*, 1985).

The effects of repeated inhalation exposures to EA in the mouse, rat and rabbit were investigated by Lomonova and Klimova (1979). Because of the lack of detail in the report it is not possible to provide an evaluation of the toxicological significance of the results.

Groups of rats were exposed (2 h/d; number of exposure days not specified) to concentrations of 0, 0.01 and 0.02 mg EA/I (0, 2.5 and 5 ppm) for 8 months. A variety of blood enzyme activities and clinical chemistry parameters were measured, the only differences noted being minor decreases in blood cholinesterase and catalase activities, and alterations in carbohydrate metabolism (Gabor *et al.*, 1965).

# 8.3.3 Summary and Evaluation

When dosed subchronically by oral gavage, EA produces severe local effects on the gastric mucosa (marked hyperplasia, ulceration and erosion), the primary lesion in rats and mice being in the forestomach, i.e. the site of application. The toxic effects occur only at doses that significantly reduce NPSH levels in the forestomach.

Only local irritation effects were observed in inhalation studies. No systemic effects were observed.

# 8.4 GENETIC TOXICITY

In vitro genetic toxicity assays are used routinely as a first screen for assessing the genotoxic activity of chemicals. These assays provide information only on the intrinsic potential of a chemical to cause damage to DNA. To determine whether or not this intrinsic potential is expressed in whole animals it is necessary to conduct *in vivo* genetic toxicity assays which take into account absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion of the test material. The results of *in vivo* assays are more relevant to human hazard.

## 8.4.1 In Vitro Bacterial Gene Mutation Assays (Tables 13 and 14)

EA has been tested extensively in the presence and absence of auxiliary metabolic activation (S9 mix) in the Ames bacterial gene mutation assay, and gave clear non-mutagenic results in the standard plate incorporation assay (Brusick, 1977; Rohm and Haas, 1979, 1981; Waegemaekers

Table 13 Bacterial Gene Mutation - Plate-incorporation Assays

Strain	+S9 mix	-S9 mix	Concentration (μg/plate)	Result	Reference
TA 98 TA 100 TA 1535 TA 1537 TA 1538	Rat (Aroclor 1254 and Phenobarbital)	Yes	30-2,000	-ve -ve -ve -ve	Waegemakers and Bensink, 1984
TA 100	Hamster	Yes	Not specified	-ve	Warner et al, 1988
TA98 TA100 TA1535 TA1537 TA1538	Not specified	Yes	0.001-5µl/plate	-ve -ve -ve -ve	Brusick, 1977
TA98 TA100 TA1535 TA1537	Not specified	Yes	0.001-5μl/plate	-ve -ve -ve -ve	O'Neill and Scribner, 1979
TA98 TA100 TA1535 TA1537	Not specified	Yes	0.001-5µl/plate	-ve -ve -ve	Lohse, 1981

Table 14 Bacterial Gene Mutation - Pre-incubation Assays

Strain	+S9 mix	-S9 mix	Concentration (µg/plate)	Result	Reference
TA 98 TA 100	Rat and Syrian hamster (Aroclor 1254)	Yes	100-10,000	-ve -ve	Haworth <i>et al</i> , 1983
TA 1535 TA 1537	( , <u>-</u> ,			-ve -ve	
TA 98 TA 100 TA 1537	Rat (PCB induced)	Yes	Not specified	-ve -ve -ve	Ishidate <i>et al</i> , 1981
TA100	Rat (Arochlor 1254)	Yes	0.001-7,500	±	Byers and O'Neill, 1983
Not specified	Not specified	Not specified	Not specified	-ve	McCarthy, 1984

# ± Equivocal

and Bensink, 1984; Warner *et al*, 1988) and the liquid preincubation assay (Ishidate *et al*, 1981; Haworth *et al*, 1983). One equivocal result has been reported in a preincubation assay using TA100 in the presence and absence of S9 mix (Byers and O'Neill, 1983), but this has not been reproduced. McCarthy (1984) also cites negative Ames test data for EA from Rohm and Haas.

## 8.4.2 In Vitro Mammalian Cell Gene Mutation Assays

EA has been extensively tested in the Chinese Hamster ovary (CHO) HGPRT mutation assay and the L5178Y TK+/- mutation assay.

EA did not induce significant numbers of mutants in a range of (CHO) HGPRT mutation assays in the absence of S9 mix (Brock *et al*, 1987; Parker *et al*, 1988; Moore *et al*, 1989, 1991). No assays were conducted in the presence of S9 mix.

In contrast, EA has been shown to be active in the mouse lymphoma TK<sup>+/-</sup> mutation assay using L5178Y cells in the absence of S9 mix (Myhr, 1980; Amtower *et al*, 1986; Brock *et al*, 1987; Doerr *et al*, 1988; McGregor *et al*, 1988; Millis *et al*, 1988; Moore *et al*, 1988,1989; Krehl and Clive, 1989; Dearfield *et al*, 1991) and in the presence of S9 mix (Dearfield *et al*, 1991). McCarthy (1984) also cites Rohm and Haas data showing a mutagenic effect of EA in L5178Y cells. The data are in accordance with the large number of other studies indicating the mutagenic activity of EA in L5178Y cells.

The majority of the mutant colonies induced by EA are reported to be small colonies (Myhr, 1980; Amtower *et al*, 1986; Brock *et al*, 1987; Doerr *et al*, 1988; Millis *et al*, 1988; Moore *et al*, 1989) indicating that the mutants induced by EA are the result of its clastogenic activity.

## 8.4.3 In Vitro Chromosomal Damage Assays

EA is a well documented *in vitro* clastogen inducing chromosomal aberrations in the absence of S9 mix in CHL cells (Ishidate *et al*, 1980, 1981, 1983), CHO cells (Amtower *et al*, 1986; Doerr *et al*, 1988; Loveday *et al*, 1990) and isolated mouse splenocytes (Kligerman *et al*, 1991). EA also induced chromosomal aberrations in the presence of S9 mix in CHL cells (Ishidate *et al*, 1980, 1981, 1983) and CHO cells (Loveday *et al*, 1990).

Zimmerman and Mohr (1992) reported that EA caused chromosomal loss and mitotic recombination in yeast cells *in vitro*. The authors speculated that the chromosomal loss was due to interference with microtubule function during mitosis and that the recombination effect was due to a direct interaction with DNA. As with the mouse lymphoma assay these effects occurred only at cytotoxic doses. This, coupled with the fact that this test system is unvalidated, questions the relevance of the current findings for human risk assessment.

# 8.4.4 In Vitro Sister-Chromatid Exchange

Loveday *et al* (1990) reported EA as an inducer of Sister-Chromatid Exchange (SCE) in CHO cells *in vitro* whereas Kligerman *et al* (1991) reported EA as negative in a SCE assay in isolated mouse splenocytes.

# 8.4.5 In Vitro Cell Transformation Assay

Steele *et al* (1989) reported EA as positive in an *in vitro* cell transformation assay in rat tracheal epithelial cells in the absence of S9 mix. This type of assay is not well validated or routinely used and any results should be treated with caution as their biological significance is questionable.

# 8.4.6 In Vivo Chromosomal Damage Assays

Przybojewska et~al~(1984) reported statistically significant increases in the incidence of micronucleated polychromatic erythrocytes in the bone marrow of Balb/c mice (4 males/ group) following 2 i.p. doses (24 hours apart) of 225, 450, 900 and 1,800 mg EA/kgbw (approximately  $LD_{50}$ ). The maximum dose level resulted in the death of 2 of 4 of the mice. The animals were killed 6 hours after receiving the second dose. Significant reductions in the ratio of polychromatic to normochromatic erythrocytes were observed at all dose levels, indicating a cytotoxic effect of EA and/or of its metabolites on the bone marrow.

These data could not be reproduced with EA (purity 98.5%) in 4 micronucleus tests in C57BL6 mice (5 or 10 males/group and 10 females/group) and Balb/c mice (10 males/group) utilising single and double i.p. dosing regimes at levels of up to 80% of the  $LD_{50}$  (738 mg EA/kgbw for single dose or 812 mg EA/kgbw for double dose) (Ashby *et al*, 1989). The results of these 4 micronucleus tests show EA to be inactive in the mouse bone marrow, even when using test conditions identical to those employed by Przybojewska *et al* (1984). Although there is no obvious explanation for this conflict of data it is clear that any increases in micronucleated polychromatic erythrocytes reported in the literature have not been reproduced in a comprehensive series of experiments. Statistically and biologically significant reductions in the ratio of polychromatic to normochromatic erythrocytes were observed by Ashby *et al* (1989) as seen by Przbojewska *et al* (1984).

Further negative clastogenic results have been reported for EA. No significant increases in the incidence of chromosomal aberrations or sister chromatid exchanges (SCE) were seen in splenocytes isolated from C57BL/6 mice (5/group) 24 hours after i.p. injection with EA (purity 99%) at dose levels of 125, 250, 500 and 1,000 mg/kgbw. A small increase in the incidence of

micronucleated binucleate cells was observed in splenocytes from animals treated at the top dose level. However, this increase was primarily due to a relatively high response in 1 of the 5 animals and the overall increase of less than 2-fold is generally accepted not to be biologically significant. The lack of clastogenic activity of EA *in vivo* is therefore further emphasised by these results from Kligerman *et al* (1990, 1991).

All 6 studies have been conducted using the i.p. route, which is considered useful for detecting intrinsic mutagenicity, but irrelevant for human hazard assessment.

Although the *in vivo* chromosome damage assays on EA have produced conflicting results, the weight of evidence indicates that EA is not clastogenic *in vivo*.

## 8.4.7 Drosophila Sex-Linked Recessive Lethal Test

Valencia et al (1985) tested EA in a sex-linked recessive lethal (SLRL) test on *Drosophilia* melanogaster using feeding and i.p. routes of administration. No significant increases in the incidence of SLRL's were observed. A positive control was not used in this study.

# 8.4.8 DNA Adducts/Damage In Vivo

Ghanayem *et al* (1987) investigated the binding of EA to nucleic acids in the forestomach and reported that no DNA adducts were observed (limit of detection 1 alkylation/10<sup>4</sup> nucleotides) in the forestomach of rats treated by oral gavage with carcinogenic doses of 2,3-[<sup>14</sup>]C-EA up to 400 mg/kgbw. Morimoto *et al* (1990, 1991) also reported no induced DNA damage as detected by alkaline elution in F344 rats treated by gavage with EA (0.1-4%) in corn oil.

## 8.4.9 Summary and Evaluation

EA is neither mutagenic to bacteria *in vitro* as shown by the large number of negative results in the Ames test nor did it produce any significant mutagenic effect in mammalian cells *in vivo* (CHO HGPRT assay). EA reproducibly induced small colony mutants in the mouse lymphoma gene mutation assay, indicating clastogenic activity. This *in vitro* clastogenic activity has been confirmed by the induction of chromosomal aberrations in CHO and CHL cells and isolated splenocytes.

EA did not induce sex-linked recessive lethal damage in *Drosophilia melanogaster* or DNA damage or adducts in the forestomachs of rats.

Although one publication reported an increase in the incidence of micronuclei *in vivo*, this has not been confirmed in a comprehensive series of 5 subsequent studies. Thus, EA is considered not to be clastogenic *in vivo*.

# 8.5 CHRONIC TOXICITY AND CARCINOGENICITY

## 8.5.1 Oral

In a 2-year study, EA (in gelatin capsules containing 5% EA dissolved in corn oil) was administered to Beagle dogs (2/sex/group) at dietary-equivalent concentrations of 0, 10, 100, and 1,000 mg/kg (0, 0.25, 2.5 and 25 mg/kgbw/d). Dogs at the highest dose level exhibited emesis initially; the dose was reduced to 300 mg/kg (7.5 mg/kgbw/d) and then gradually increased to 1,000 mg/kg (25 mg/kgbw/d) over a 16 week period. No systemic toxic effects were detected (Borzelleca *et al*, 1964).

Wistar rats (25/sex/group) received EA in their drinking water over a 2 year period at concentrations of 0, 6, 60 and 2,000 mg/l (the 6 and 60 mg/l doses were increased to 7 and 70 mg/l after 4 months), equivalent to respective doses of 0, 0.46, 4.7 and 115 mg/kgbw/d (males) and 0, 0.69, 6.3 and 163 mg/kg/d (females). Treatment-related decreases in body weight were seen in the high dose animals, i.e. a 15% reduction in females and 5.5% in males. Depressed food and water consumption paralleled the periods of decreased body-weight gain. There were no other adverse effects at any dose and no indication of an oncogenic response (Borzelleca *et al*, 1964).

F344 rats and B6C3F<sub>1</sub> mice (50/sex/group) were treated (5 d/wk) for 103 weeks by oral gavage with solutions of EA in corn oil (rats 2% and 4%, mice 1% and 2%) equivalent to doses of 0, 100, or 200 mg/kgbw/d. The results of the study showed that gavage administration of EA was clearly associated with the occurrence of benign and malignant forestomach tumours in both rats and mice (Table 15). When data on forestomach tumours and non-neoplastic lesions were compared on the basis of the concentration of EA in the dosing solution rather than the total dose, the response was similar in the 2 species. The forestomach changes were therefore considered to be related to the concentration of EA delivered as a bolus dose in corn oil, rather to than to the total body dose. There was no evidence of toxicity in any tissues other than the forestomach. The absence of systemic effects was attributed to the fact that EA is rapidly hydrolysed in the blood and liver (US-NTP, 1986).

The NTP (1986) chronic study was followed by 3, 6 and 12 month stop-dose studies with rats which indicated that 12 months of gavage dosing of a 4% solution of EA was required to induce

Species, sex	Dose (mg/kgbw/d)								
(number of animals)	0	100	200	0	100	200	0	100	200
	Squai	mous cell	papillomas	Squa	mous cell	carcinomas		mous cell p cinomas	apillomas
Rat, & (50)	1	15¹	29¹	0	5	121	1	18¹	36¹
Rat, ♀ (50)	1	6	9	0	0	2	1	6	11
Mouse, ♂ (n²)	O <sup>a</sup>	4°	9ª	Oª	2°	5⁵	0ª	5°	12 <sup>b1</sup>
Mouse, ♀ (n²)	1 b	4 <sup>d</sup>	5ª	Оp	1 <sup>d</sup>	2ª	1 <sup>b</sup>	5 <sup>d</sup>	7ª

Table 15 Forestomach Tumours in F344 Rats and B6C3F, Mice Treated by Oral Gavage with EA (after US-NTP, 1986)

forestomach tumours when the animals were examined for 2 years following the start of dosing (Ghanayem *et al*, 1991a, 1993). Dosing for 3 or 6 months resulted in marked forestomach hyperkeratosis and hyperplasia that has reversed and returned to a normal epithelium when the tissue was examined at 24 months of age.

## 8.5.2 Dermal

The dorsal skin of male C3H/HEJ mice was treated with undiluted EA (3x25 µl/wk) for their lifetime (3x/wk). No skin tumours were found. There were no statistically significant alterations in survival. Treatment did, however, produce non-neoplastic skin changes such as dermatitis, dermal fibrosis, epidermal necrosis and hyperkeratosis in several of the mice (De Pass *et al.*, 1984).

# 8.5.3 Inhalation

F344 rats and B6C3F, mice (60/sex/species in each of 2 control groups and 75/sex/species in treated groups) were exposed (6 h/d, 5 d/wk) to atmospheres containing EA vapour at concentrations of 0, 0.1 or 0.31 mg EA/I (0, 25, or 75 ppm) for 27 months. Additional rats and mice were exposed to 0.92 mg EA/I (225 ppm) for 6 months and held without additional exposure for 21 months. There were concentration-related decreases in body-weight gain in rats and mice of both sexes at all concentrations tested. No effects on organ weight, clinical chemistry, haematology, urinalysis or survival time were observed. Animals exposed to 225 ppm appeared to be 'irritated and aggressive' at the start and lethargic at the end of each exposure period. The only significant histopathological findings were degenerative changes of the olfactory epithelium of the nasal turbinate. The changes seen in all 3 exposure groups were concentration-dependent. In general, areas of the nasal mucosa lined by olfactory epithelium were the most affected, while regions lined

<sup>1</sup> P<0.001 Cochran-Armitage trend, Fisher exact test

<sup>2</sup> a, n=48; b, n=50; c, n=47; d,n=49

by the respiratory epithelium were relatively unaffected. The underlying reason for this selective effect could not be determined. There was no indication of an oncogenic response in any organ or tissue in either the rat or mouse (Miller *et al*, 1985). In another study, in which rats and mice were exposed (6 h/d, 5 d/wk) to 0.02 mg EA/I (5 ppm) for 24 months, no treatment- related effects in the nasal mucosa were observed. The NOEL on the nasal mucosa for non-neoplastic effects was therefore 5 ppm (Miller *et al*, 1985).

## 8.5.4 Summary

To date there have been 6 oncogenicity studies with EA; an oral gavage study in rats and mice, a drinking-water study in rats, an inhalation study in rats and mice and a dermal exposure study in mice. Of these, only the gavage studies showed a positive effect, with a concentration-and dose-dependent increase in the incidence of papillomas and carcinomas in the forestomachs of rats and mice. No other tissues were affected and no toxic effects were seen in any tissue or organ remote from the dosing site. The histopathological changes in the forestomach following gavage dosing were consistent with the severe irritant properties of EA. They are considered to have occurred following a saturation of the detoxification pathway and the rapid and sustained reduction in NPSH caused by the high concentration of EA delivered to the target tissue by bolus dosing.

The lack of tumours in the forestomach of animals in the drinking water study can be explained by the fact that the dose of EA delivered to the forestomach never reached the high local level achieved by bolus dosing. Thus the detoxification pathways were not compromised and tissue irritation, fundamental to tumour development, was modulated. The results of the oncogenicity studies are consistent with a mechanism whereby sustained hyperplasia produced by local tissue injury, rather than direct genotoxic action of EA, results in tumour formation.

## 8.6 REPRODUCTIVE AND TERATOGENIC EFFECTS

# 8.6.1 Reproductive Effects

No data are available.

## 8.6.2 Teratogenicity

Pregnant Sprague-Dawley rats (33 females/group) were exposed (6 h/d) to atmospheres containing 0, 50 or 150 ppm EA from days 6-15 of gestation. Maternal toxicity was observed at the highest exposure concentration as shown by reduced body-weight and food consumption. In 3 of the 308

pups examined at this dose level, there were foetal malformations (hypoplastic tail, small anal orifice) or skeletal variations (delayed ossification, missing ribs or vertebrae, or fused ribs). At 50 ppm, there was neither maternal toxicity nor an adverse effect on the developing embryo or foetus. The authors concluded that the findings at maternally toxic doses did not show a teratogenic effect because their incidence was not statistically significant and had been observed in historical control data at the test laboratory (Murray *et al.*, 1981).

The teratogenic effect of EA was also examined in Wistar rats following oral gavage. Pregnant Wistar rats were dosed with 0, 25, 50, 100, 200 or 400 mg EA/kgbw/d (vehicle and concentration not specified) from days 7-16 of gestation. Maternal toxicity was manifest as decreased bodyweight gain and decreased placental weight. A number of effects were observed on the developing foetus, namely delayed ossification, shortened ribs and skull anomalies, however they did not occur in a dose-related manner. A comprehensive evaluation of the investigation is restricted by deficiencies in the study design. No clinical signs were reported, soft tissues were not examined and maternal toxicity was not adequately assessed (Pietrowicz *et al*, 1980).

## 8.6.3 Summary

EA was not teratogenic in rats at inhalation exposure concentrations up to 150 ppm, the maximum level examined, which was toxic to the dams. There is no evidence for specific embryotoxicity or foetotoxicity at non-maternally toxic concentrations.

# SECTION 9. EFFECTS ON MAN

# 9.1 IRRITATION

EA is irritating to the skin, eyes and mucous membranes of the digestive and respiratory tracts (Nemec and Bauer, 1978; Sandmeiter and Kirwin, 1978). Solutions of 1 and 5% EA in olive oil were not irritating to human skin (Cavelier *et al*, 1981).

## 9.2 SENSITISATION

Dermal sensitisation was seen in 10 of 24 human volunteers exposed to 4% EA in Vaseline (Opdyke, 1975). A case of contact dermatitis of the hands has been described by Fregert (1978). When individuals who had been sensitised to 2-ethylhexyl acrylate and N-t-butylmaleamic acid were exposed to EA, they showed evidence of allergic cross-reaction (Jordan, 1975).

On the basis of the human maximisation tests performed by Epstein and reported by Opdyke (1975) it would appear that EA has some potential to sensitise man.

## 9.3 CHRONIC TOXICITY

During 5 years of developmental research, 33 workers (20 women and 13 men) were exposed (regime not specified) to an atmosphere containing concentrations of 4-58 mg/m³ (1-14 ppm) of EA, up to 50 mg/m³ (9.4 ppm) of *n*-butyl acrylate and 0.11-2 mg/m³ (0.05-0.9 ppm) of acrylonitrile. The clinical and laboratory investigations diagnosed neuroautonomic or neurotic disturbances in 14 individuals which were functional in nature as indicated by corresponding EEG recordings (Kuželová *et al*, 1981). Because of mixed exposures and in the absence of further data it is impossible to evaluate this study.

An investigation of olfactory function in 731 workers at a chemical facility manufacturing acrylates and methacrylates showed no associations between chemical exposure and the olfactory test scores. A nested case-control study, designed to evaluate the cumulative effects of exposure, indicated a reversible effect on olfactory function (Schwartz *et al.*, 1989).

## 9.4 EPIDEMIOLOGY

Walker *et al* (1991) published a study of 13,863 workers from 2 Rohm and Haas sites in North America, producing acrylic sheet. The Bristol plant was represented by 2 cohorts, the so-called Early Bristol cohort of 3,934 white males employed between 1 January 1933 and 31 December 1945 (of which 2,904 were hired between 1941 and 1945) and the Later Bristol cohort of 6,548 white males (3,916 hourly paid and 2,632 salaried workers) hired between 1 January 1946 and 31 December 1986. The Knoxville plant was represented by 1 cohort of 3,381 white males employed between 1 January 1943 and 31 December 1982. All groups were followed from the first day of employment or 1 January 1933, whichever came later. Assessment of exposure to EA and/or methyl methacrylate was based on job history and on a job specific exposure scale. The total dose for each job held by every worker was estimated by multiplying exposure intensity by the interval in days from the start to the end of employment in the job, divided by 365.25. In the Early Bristol cohort there was an excess of colon cancer in workers exposed to EA and/or methyl methacrylate when compared to the local rates (Table 16).

Table 16 Mortality from Cancer of the Colon in the Early Bristol Cohort (adapted from Walker et al, 1991)

Achieved dose <sup>a</sup>	Observed deaths	Expected deaths	Fitted rate ratio⁵
None (not exposed)	12	9.66	1.24
0-4 units	13	9.39	1.39
5-9 units	6	5.17	1.16
10-14 units	1	2.24	0.45
≥ 15 units	11	4.58	2.4

a Mutually exclusive doses of EA and/or methyl methacrylate at least 20 years since first achieving dose among those employed >10 months

The excess mortality appeared at least 20 years after the equivalent of 3 years employment in jobs producing the highest exposure to EA and/or methyl methacrylate vapour and to volatile by-products of polymerisation. Cancer of the rectum was also elevated in the Early Bristol cohort (10 deaths observed versus 5.23 expected; O/E ratio 1.9) although, due to the paucity of data this observation is less robust than the colon cancer. No excesses of either colon or rectal cancer were observed in either the Late Bristol or Knoxville cohorts. The authors conclude that "a causal role for protracted, extremely high exposure to EA, methyl methacrylate or the volatile by-products of the EA/methyl methacrylate polymerisation process in the genesis of colon and rectum cancer is a tenable

b Fitted mortality ratio of cohort mortality rate and for combined Bucks county and Burlington counties white male mortality rate for the same age and calendar period

explanation of the available epidemiologic data". Despite the "statistical association" between exposure to EA/Methyl methacrylate and deaths from colorectal cancer in the Early Bristol cohort, the data are neither consistent with the animal carcinogenicity data on EA and methyl methacrylate (ECETOC, 1994b) nor with the mechanistic data indicating activity of EA only at or close to the point of contact. In addition, the absence of supporting data from the other 2 cohorts leads to the conclusion that the correlation between exposure to EA and/or methyl methacrylate and death from colorectal cancer is unconvincing.

## 9.5 SUMMARY

Inhalation and skin contact are the primary routes of exposure to EA in the workplace. Direct contact with the liquid is irritating to the skin and eye, and breathing the vapour can irritate the eyes, nose, mouth, throat and upper respiratory system. Because of these irritant effects and the objectionable smell of EA it is unlikely that human beings would be exposed to high concentrations of EA. However, care should be taken as repeated or chronic exposures to EA vapour may result in damage to the lining of the nose, compromising the sense of smell or taste. EA may cause allergic skin reactions in certain individuals. These sensitised individuals may also be sensitised to other acrylic acid esters.

In a retrospective mortality study of workers employed in an EA and methylmethacrylate production plant prior to 1946, an increase in mortality from colorectal cancer was observed. An examination in a similar population at a different site did not show an increase in colorectal cancer. Increases in colorectal cancer have not been seen in a population of workers employed after 1946.

A causal relationship between exposure to EA by inhalation and the increased risk of colorectal cancer in the single cohort is not supported by the observation of exclusively local toxic and carcinogenic effects of EA, and by the mechanistic data which indicate rapid hydrolysis of EA giving low tissue concentrations at non-exposed organs.

# SECTION 10. ASSESSMENT OF HUMAN CARCINOGENIC HAZARD

A major health issue that has been associated with exposure to EA is its possible carcinogenic effect, which has led the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) to classify EA as possibly carcinogenic to man, group 2B' (IARC, 1986, 1987).

In the NTP bioassay (1986), rats and mice treated by oral gavage for their life-time with high doses of EA in corn oil developed forestomach tumours only (no other tissues were affected). Conversely, chronic dosing of EA in drinking water did not produce any excess tumours in treated animals (Borzelleca et al, 1964), despite the fact that the daily dose of EA in the high dose animals (110 mg/kgbw/d) was equivalent to a dose which caused forestomach tumours in the oral gavage study. This apparent discrepancy may be explained by reference to both the histopathological findings and the metabolism of EA, and attributed to the difference in dosing regime. Bolus administration produced local concentrations of EA in the forestomach sufficient to produce hyperkeratosis, submucosal inflammation and oedema and ulceration/ erosion of the forestomach (NTP, 1986; Frederick et al, 1990). In contrast to the liver, where hydrolysis of the ester bond is rapid (half-life of acrylic acid approximately 2 s), this metabolic route is less effective in both the forestomach and the glandular stomach of the rat, the half-lives being 8.66 and 9.9 min respectively. In these circumstances the second metabolic route, conjugation with NPSH becomes potentially more significant. Under non-saturating concentrations (e.g. drinking water study), NPSH reduction is rapidly replenished, however, following repeat high dose bolus exposure (e.g. gavage study) rapid and prolonged depletion of NPSH would be anticipated. These effects have been observed in the rat model and correlate with the histopathological findings. Thus in the gavage studies significant reduction in NPSH meant that the detoxification pathway was compromised (Frederick et al, 1990) (Section 8.3.1). In contrast, administration of EA in the drinking water to achieve the same daily dose, produced no effects on NPSH levels and significantly lower incidences in both the nature and severity of non-neoplastic forestomach lesions and no cancer (Frederick et al, 1990). Thus effective detoxification continued throughout the drinking water treatment regime.

The results of the NTP (1986) oral gavage study must be placed in perspective when evaluating the carcinogenic hazard to human beings involved in the manufacture, transportation or processing of EA. Firstly there is no practical situation where EA would be ingested regularly in concentrations high enough to compromise the detoxification system. Secondly, the lesions occurred only in the forestomach, an organ which is not present in man. The forestomach in the rodent is designed to

accommodate the storage of food, i.e. relatively long retention/contact times. The storage function of the rodent forestomach and the bolus application are believed to be fundamental in the development of the tumours by allowing prolonged irritation of the forestomach by EA which caused chronic inflammatory changes. Thirdly, the weight of genetic toxicology data indicates that EA is not a genotoxin *in vivo*. Fourthly, studies on the ability of EA to induce DNA strand damage in the rat forestomach were negative. The absence of *in vivo* DNA binding in the rat forestomach further supports the view that EA is not a site-contact genotoxin. Finally, epidemiological studies in worker populations show no evidence for carcinogenic effects causally related to EA exposure.

In addition to the 2 positive gavage studies (NTP, 1986), there are 4 negative carcinogenicity studies in rats and mice, i.e. the drinking water study (Borzelleca *et al*, 1982) and dermal study (De Pass *et al*, 1984). Inhalation and skin contact are the most relevant routes of exposure in the workplace whereas bolus ingestion is not. A 27 month inhalation study (Miller *et al*, 1985), using concentrations of EA which produced severe nasal irritation, produced no evidence of a carcinogenic response. No carcinogenic response was produced when EA was administered to the skin in a lifetime study in mice (De Pass *et al*, 1984).

Consideration of the available data supports the view that EA does not represent a human carcinogenic hazard. This is in agreement with the conclusion of the EC Specialised Experts who concluded that EA should have 'no classification for carcinogenicity' (CEC, 1991).

# SECTION 11. FIRST AID AND SAFE HANDLING ADVICE

## 11.1 FIRST AID AND MEDICAL TREATMENT

There is no specific treatment or antidote for over-exposure to EA. Supportive medical treatment as indicated by the patient's condition is recommended.

# 11.1.1 Skin and Eye Injuries

Clothing contaminated with EA should be removed. Affected areas of skin must be washed with copious quantities of water. The skin must be rinsed for at least 10 min. If the eyes are splashed, they should be irrigated immediately with eye-wash solution or clean water, holding the eyelids apart for at least 10 min. A physician should then be consulted.

#### 11.1.2 Inhalation

The patient must be taken into fresh air, kept warm and at rest if he experiences difficulty in breathing after inhaling EA fumes. If the patient stops breathing, artificial respiration should be administered until qualified medical personnel is able to take over. Medical aid should be summoned immediately.

## 11.1.3 Ingestion

If EA has been swallowed, do not induce vomiting. Never give anything by mouth to an unconscious person. A physician should be consulted immediately.

## 11.2 SAFE HANDLING

## 11.2.1 Safety at Work

The main risk of injury stems from EA's irritating action on the skin and mucous membranes. Contact with the skin and eyes should therefore be avoided as should inhalation of high concentrations of EA vapour. EA should be used only in well ventilated areas. EA vapour is denser than air; pits and confined spaces should be avoided.

Suitable respiratory equipment must be worn on occasions when exposure to EA vapour above the recommended exposure limit is likely.

The following protective clothing must be worn when handling EA: eye-face protection and rubber gloves (preferably nitrile) which should be changed regularly to avoid permeation. Rubber boots should also be worn when handling large quantities.

## 11.2.2 Storage Safety

EA is stable in the presence of a polymerisation inhibitor. It is susceptible to polymerisation initiated by prolonged heating or a catalyst. Therefore, the following precautions must always be observed when storing EA.

- EA must be stored under air as the stabiliser (hydroquinone monomethylether) is only effective in the presence of oxygen
- Heat and direct sunlight must be excluded, as these promote polymerisation
- EA must be stored at temperatures preferably not exceeding 25°C
- Care should be taken to prevent contamination, as contaminants can render the stabiliser ineffective or can react with EA and promote polymerisation.

## 11.2.3 Fire Safety and Extinguishants

EA is classified as a highly flammable liquid. It can form an explosive mixture in air; adequate ventilation should be provided and smoking prohibited. Precautions should be maintained to eliminate all sources of ignition of EA when in contact with air. EA may polymerise on heating. Sealed containers may rupture if hot. Heat, UV-light, peroxide, azo-compounds, alkalis and oxidising agents may cause rapid polymerisation resulting in explosion. Fires can be extinguished with water, alcohol-resistant foam, dry powder or CO<sub>2</sub>.

If fire does break out, neighbouring tanks and pipelines must be kept cool with plenty of water, otherwise the heat generated by the fire will cause their contents to polymerise.

## 11.2.4 Protection against Fire and Explosion

To avoid ignition, the following precautions are recommended.

- All plant and equipment should be explosion-proof as laid down in national standards
- All containers must be earthed
- All sources of ignition must be excluded
- No smoking is allowed
- No welding should be done until all tanks and pipelines have been drained and thoroughly flushed with water or hot caustic soda.

# 11.3 MANAGEMENT OF SPILLAGE AND WASTE

In all cases of spillage naked flames should be extinguished. Smoking and sparks must be avoided. Small spills of a few litres can be soaked up with suitable absorbent materials such as sand or earth. EA should not be absorbed onto sawdust or other combustible materials. Larger spills must be prevented from spreading by the use of earth or sand and the material should be pumped into containers.

Surfaces contaminated with EA should be washed well, first with alcohol and then with soap and water. All wastes should be sealed in vapour-tight plastic bags for eventual disposal.

EA should not be allowed to drain into domestic sewers as serious explosion hazards could result. Local authorities should be informed immediately if spilt liquid EA has entered surface water drains.

Waste quantities of EA can be incinerated in accordance with local, state or national regulations. Empty storage drums must be decontaminated before recycling.

When aqueous waste containing EA is discharged to adapted biological waste-water treatment plants it is expected to be mineralised. No disturbance of the bacterial activity of sewage treatment plants is expected if EA is properly diluted.

# **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

ACGIH (American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists), 1992. Ethyl acrylate. In: Threshold limit values and biological exposure indices for 1992-1993. ACGIH, Cincinatti, OH.

AFS (Arbetarskyddsstyrelsens författningssamling), 1990. Etylakrylat. In: Hygieniska gränsvärden, AFS 1990: 13. AFS, Stockholm.

Amoore JE and Hautala E, 1983. Odor as an aid to chemical safety: odor thresholds compared with threshold limit values and volatilities for 214 industrial chemicals in air and water dilution. J Appl Toxicol 3, 272-290.

Amtower AL, Brock KH, Doerr CL, Dearfield CL and Moore MM, 1986. Genotoxicity of three acrylate compounds in L5178Y mouse lymphoma cells. EMS abstracts 8, 4.

Arbeidsinspectie, 1991. De nationale MAC-lijst 1991. Ethylakrylaat. DG Arbeid, Ministerie van Sociale Zaken en Werkgelegenheid, Voorburg.

Arbeidstilsynet, 1990. Etylakrylat. In: Administrative normer for forurensning i arbeidsatamosfære, veiledning til arbeidsmiljøloven. Direktoratet for Arbeidstilsynet, Oslo.

Archer G, 1990. A hydrolysis study of <sup>14</sup>C-ethyl acrylate. BAMM, Washington, DC [abstract].

Ashby J, Richardson CR and Tinwell H, 1989. Inactivity of ethyl acrylate in the mouse bone marrow micronucleus assay. Mutagenesis 4, 283-285.

BASF, 1986. Ergebnisse der BSB-Untersuchung für Ethylacrylat. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF, 1988a. Ethyl acrylate. Acrylic acid ester for manufacturing polymers and as a feedstock for syntheses. Technical information. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF, 1988b. Bestimmung des Verteilungs-koeffizienten log  $P_{\rm ow}$  von Ethylacrylat in 1-Octanol/ Wasser bei Raumtemperature (25°C). Personal comunication by Dr. Scherk, 23.03.1988. BASF, Ludwigshafen 1-4.

BASF, 1988c. Bestimmung der akuten Wirkung von Ethylacrylat gegenüber dem Wasserfloh *Daphnia magna* Straus. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF, 1989. Report on the study of the acute toxicity. Name of test substance: ethylacrylat, animal species: Golden orfe (*Leuciscus idus* L., golden variety). BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF, 1990. Bakterienwachstumshemmtest: Ethylacrylat. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF, 1991. Algenzellvermehrungshemmtest: Ethylacrylat. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

Belanger PL and Coye MF, 1981. Health hazard evaluation report No. HHE-80-68-871, Sinclair Paint Company, Los Angeles, CA [NTIS PB82-214396]. NIOSH, Cincinnati, OH.

Blum DJW and Speece RE, 1991. Quantitative structureactivity relationships for chemical toxicity to environmental bacteria. Ecotoxicol Environ Safety 22, 198-224.

Borzelleca JF, Larson PS, Hennigar GR, Huf EG, Crawford EM and Smith RB, 1964. Studies on the chronic oral toxicity of monomeric ethyl acrylate and methyl methacrylate. Tox Appl Pharmacol 6, 29-36.

Bosserman MW and Ketcham NH, 1980. An air sampling and analysis method for monitoring personal expoure to vapors of acrylate monomers. Am Ind Hyg Assoc J 41, 20-26 [abstract].

Bowman JH, 1990. Acute flow-through toxicity of ethyl acrylate to rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*). Analytical Bio-Chemistry Laboratories, Columbia, MO, 5 [summary].

Brock KH, Amtower AL, Dearfield KL and Moore MM, 1987. The role of target gene location in the recovery of intralocus vs. interlocus mutations in mammalian cells. EMS abstracts 10, 19.

Brusick D, 1977. Ethyl acrylate. Mutagenicity evaluation. Litton Bionetics. BAMM, Washington, DC.

Burgess D, 1990. Acute flow-through toxicity of ethyl acrylate to *Daphnia magna*. Analytical Bio-Chemistry Laboratories, Columbia, MO. BAMM, Washington, DC.

Cavelier C, Jelen G, Hervé-Bazin B and Foussereau J, 1981. Irritation et allergie aux acrylates et methacrylates: première partie, monoacrylates et monomethacrylates simples. Ann. Dermatol. Venerol, 108, 549-556.

CEC (Commission of the EC), 1991. Summary record of the 12th meeting of Specialised Experts in the field of carcinogencity, mutagenic and teratogenic substances, Oxford, 3-4 Oct 91. CEC DG XI, Brussels.

Daubert TE and Danner RP, 1989. Physical and thermodynamic properties of pure chemicals, data compilation. Hemisphere, New York, NY.

Dearfield KL, Harrington-Brock K, Doerr CL, Rabinowitz JR and Moore MM, 1991. Genotoxicity in mouse lymphoma cells of chemicals capable of Michael addition. Mutagenesis 6, 519-525.

De Bethizy JD, Udinsky JR, Scribner HE and Frederick CB, 1987. The disposition and metabolism of acrylic acid in male Sprague-Dawley rats. Fund Appl Toxicol 8, 549-561.

De Ceaurriz JC, Micillino JC, Bonnet P and Guénier JP, 1981. Sensory irritation caused by various industrial airborne chemicals. Tox Lett 9, 137-143.

Delbressine LPC, 1981. Metabolic detoxification of olefinic compounds. PhD thesis, University of Nijmegen. Nijmegen, NL, 99 p.

Delbressine LPC, Seutter E and Seutter-Berlage F, 1980. Metabolism and toxicity of acrylates and methacrylates. Brit J Pharmacol 68, 165P [poster].

Delbressine LPC, Van Balen HCJG and Seutter-Berlage F, 1982. Isolation and identification of mercapturic acid metabolites of phenyl substituted acrylate esters from urine of female rats. Arch Toxicol 49, 321-330.

De Pass LR, Fowler EH, Meckley DR and Weil CS, 1984. Dermal oncogenicity bioassays of acrylic acid, ethyl acrylate, and butyl acrylate. J Tox Environ Health 14, 115-120.

DFG (Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, Senatskommission zur Prüfung gesundheits-schädlicher Arbeitsstoffe), 1992. MAK- und BAT-Werte-Liste 1992, Maximale Arbeitsplatz-konzentrationen und Biologische Arbeitsstofftoleranzwerte. Mitteilung 28. VCH, Weinheim.

Doerr CL, Brock KH, Dearfield KL and Moore MM, 1988. Induction of chromosome aberrations in Chinese hamster ovary and mouse lymphoma cells. EMS abstracts 11, 30.

Dohányos M, Zabranska J and Grau P, 1988. Anaerobic breakdown of acrylic acid. Pergamon Press, Oxford, 287-294.

ECETOC (European Centre for Ecotoxicology and Toxicology of Chemicals), 1994a. Acrylic acid. Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals. ECETOC, Brussels [in prep].

ECETOC (European Centre for Ecotoxicology and Toxicology of Chemicals), 1994b. Methyl Methacrylate. Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals. ECETOC, Brussels [in press].

EEC (European Community), 1992. Commission directive of 30 April 1992 adapting to technical progress for the seventh time Council Directive 67/548/EEC (92/32/EEC). Off J EC, L154, 1-29.

Elf Atochem, 1990. Ethyl acrylate. Material safety data sheet. Elf Atochem, Paris la Défense.

Flaherty J, 1989. Personal communication of March 2, 1989 from Keystone Environmental Resources to BCM Labs: BOD<sub>5</sub> and COD of ethylacrylate, methyl methacrylate and *n*-butyl acrylate. BCM Labs (Rohm and Haas), Norristown, PA, 1-2.

Forbis AD, 1990. Acute toxicity of ethyl acrylate to Selenastrum capricornutum Printz. Analytical Bio-Chemistry Laboratories, Columbia, MO, 6.

Frederick CB and Reynolds CH, 1989. Modeling the reactivity of acrylic acid and acrylate anion with biological nucleophiles. Toxicol Lett 47, 241-247.

Frederick CB and Chang-Mateu IM, 1990. Contact site carcinogenicity: estimation of an upper limit for risk of dermal dosing site tumors based on oral dosing site carcinogenicity. In: Gerrity, TR and Henry, DJ (eds), Principles of route-to-route extrapolation for risk assessment. Elsevier, Amsterdam.

Frederick CB, Potter DW, Chang-Mateu IM and Andersen ME, 1989. A physiologically-based pharmacokinetic model for oral dosing of ethyl acrylate. Toxicologist 9, 237 [abstract].

Frederick CB, Hazelton GA and Frantz JD, 1990. The histopathological and biochemical response of the stomach of male F344/N rats following two weeks of oral dosing with ethyl acrylate. Tox Pathology 18, 247-256.

Frederick CB, Udinsky JR and Finch L, 1991. Regional differences in the enzymatic hydrolysis of ethyl acrylate in the rat upper respiratory tract. Toxicologist 11, 183 [abstract].

Frederick CB, Udinsky JR and Finch L, 1994. The regional hydrolysis of ethyl acrylate to acrylic acid in the rat nasal cavity. Toxicol Lett 70, 49-56.

Fregert S, 1978. Allergic contact dermatitis from ethylacrylate in a window sealant. Contact Dermatitis 4, 56 [with Rohm and Haas report].

Gabor S, Anca L, Ivanov L, Borda M and Bozac L, 1965. Efectul cronic al inhalării concentraţiilor mici de metil metacrila şi etilacrilat în experiment pe animale [The chronic effect of inhalation of low methyl methacrylate and ethyl acrylate concentrations as shown by experiments on animals]. Igiena 14, 593-600 [Roumanian].

Gallant RW, 1958. Physical properties of hydrocarbons. Gulf Publishing, Houston, TX.

Ghanayem BI, Maronpot RR and Matthews HB, 1985a. Ethyl acrylate-induced gastric toxicity I. Effect of single and repetitive dosing. Tox Appl Pharmacol 80, 323-335.

Ghanayem BI, Maronpot RR and Matthews HB, 1985b. Ethyl acrylate-induced gastric toxicity II. Structure-toxicity relationships and mechanism. Tox Appl Pharmacol 80, 336-344.

Ghanayem BI, Burka LT and Matthews HB, 1987. Ethyl acrylate distribution, macromolecular binding, excretion, and metabolism in male Fisher 344 rats. Fund Appl Toxicol 9, 389-397.

Ghanayem BI, Matthews HB and Maronpot RR, 1991a. Sustainability of forestomach hyperplasia in rats treated with ethyl acrylate for 13 weeks and regression after cessation of dosing. Tox Pathol 19, 273-279.

Ghanayem Bl, Maronpot RR and Matthews HB, 1991b. Effects of sulfhydryl modulation on ethyl acrylate-induced forestomach toxicity. Tox Letters 55, 215-221.

Ghanayem Bl, Sanchez IM, Maronpot RR, Elwell MR and Matthews HB, 1993. Relationship between the time of sustained ethyl acrylate forestomach hyperplasia and carcinogenicity. Environ Health Perspect 101, 277-280.

Gilette DM and Frederick CB, 1993. Quantitation of an epithelial S-phase response in the rat forestomach and glandular stomach following gavage dosing with ethyl acrylate. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 122, 244-257.

Haagen-Smit AJ, Kirchner JG, Prater AN and Deasy CL, 1945. Chemical studies of pineapple (*Ananas sativas* Lindl) II. Isolation and identification of a sulfur-containing ester in pineapple. J Am Chem Soc 67, 1651-1652.

Hansch C and Leo A J, 1985. Medchem Project Issue No. 26, Pomona College, Claremont CA.

Haworth S, Lawlor T, Mortelmans K, Speck W and Zeiger E, 1983. Salmonella mutagenicity test results for 250 chemicals. Environ Mutagen Supp 1, 3-142.

Hermens J and Leeuwangh P, 1982. Joint toxicity of mixtures of 8 and 24 chemicals to the Guppy (*Poecilia reticulata*). Ecotoxicol Environ Safety 6, 302-310.

Huhtanen CN and Guy EJ, 1984. Antifungal properties of esters of alkenoic and alkynoic acids. J. Food Sc. 49, 281-283.

IARC (International Agency for Research on Cancer), 1986. Ethylacrylate. In: IARC Monographs on the evaluation of the carcinogenic risk of chemicals to humans, vol 39. Some chemicals used in plastics and elastomers. IARC, Lyon, 81-98.

IARC (International Agency for Research on Cancer), 1987. Overall evaluations of carcinogenicity: an updating of IARC Monographs volumes 1 to 42, supplement 7. IARC, Lyon, 56, 63.

ILO (International Labour Office), 1991. Occupational exposure limits for airborne toxic substances, 3rd ed. Occupational Safety and Health Series 37. ILO, Geneva.

INRS (Institut National de Recherches Scientifiques), 1988. Produits chimiques cancérogènes pour l'homme. Cahiers de notes documentaires 132, 487-493.

Ishidate M, Sofune T and Yoshikawa K, 1980. [Screening data of mutagenicity on food accitives tested in 1980]. Mutagen Toxicol 12, 82-90 [Japanese].

Ishidate M, Sofuni T and Yoshikawa K, 1981. Chromosomal aberration tests *in vitro* as a primary screening tool for environmental mutagens and/or carcinogens. GANN 27, 95-108.

Ishidate M, Sofune T and Yoshikawa K, 1983. Data book of chromosomal aberration tests *in vitro* on 587 chemical substances using Chinese hamster fibro-blasts cell line (CHL cells). Realize, Tokyo, 197.

J-CITI (Chemicals Inspection and Testing Institute Japan) (ed) (1992). Ethyl acrylate. In: Biodegradation and bioaccumulation. Data of existing chemicals based on the CSCL Japan. Japan Chemical Industry Ecology-Toxicology and Information Center, Tokyo.

Jones MT, Pilgrim RC and Murrow PJ, 1981. Control of acrylic monomer emissions from a process situated in a sensitive area. In: Webb KA and Smith AJ (ed). Proc 7th Int Clean Air Conf, 809-827.

Jordan WP, 1975. Cross-sensitization patterns in acrylate allergies. Contact Dermatitis 1, 13-15.

Kaufmann HG, 1982. Granular carbon treatment of contaminated ground-water supplies. In: Proc 2nd Nat Symp Aquifer Restoration and Ground Water Monitoring, Worthington, OH, 94-98.

Kimber I, 1992. Skin sensitisation [EA negative in murine local lymph node assay]. Pers comm to Mackay JM, 12 Nov 92. ICI CTL, Macclesfield.

Kirchner K, Hammes P, Schmidt Ch, Vettermann R and Koch H, 1976. Chemistry of air pollution in the low-concentration range significance for engineering. Dechema-Monograph 80, 555-581.

Kligerman AD, Atwater AL, Bryant MF, Erexson GL, Kwanyuen P and Dearfield KL, 1990. *In vivo* cytogenetic studies of ethyl acrylate in C57BL/6 mice. EMS abstracts 15, 30.

Kligerman AD, Atwater AL, Bryant MF, Erexson GL, Kwanyuen P and Dearfield KL, 1991. Cytogenetic studies of ethyl acrylate using C57BL/6 mice. Mutagenesis 6, 137-141.

Krehl R and Clive D, 1989. Reassessment of select NTP compounds in the L5178Y/tk +/- mouse lymphoma assay. EMS abstracts, 105-106.

Kuželová M, Kovařík J, Fiedlerová D and Popler A, 1981. Akrylové sloučeniny a zdravotní stav exponovaných osob [Acrylic compounds and general health of the exposed persons]. Pracov Lék 33, 95-99. [Czech; Doc Occup Health 8, 1612; Chem Abstr 96, 24169v]

Langvart PW and Ramstad T, 1981. Gas chromatography of some volatile organic compounds using oronite niw on carbopack supports. J Chromatogr Sci 19, 536-542.

Leonardos G, Kendall D and Barnard N, 1969. Odor threshold determinations of 53 odorants chemicals. J Air Poll Contr Assoc 19, 91-95.

Lin Chou W, Speece RE, Siddiqi RH and McKeon K, 1978. The effect of petrochemical structure on methane fermentation toxicity. Prog Wat Tech 10, 545-558.

Lomonova GV and Klimova El, 1979. [Data on the toxicology of acrylic acid methyl and ethyl esters]. Gig Tr Prof Zabol 9, 55-56 [Russian].

Loveday KS, Anderson BE, Resnick MA and Zeiger E, 1990. Chromosome aberration and sister chromatid exchange tests in Chinese hamster ovary cells *in vitro*. V: results with 46 chemicals. Environ Molec Mutagen 16, 272-303.

Lyman WJ, Reehl WF and Rosenblatt DN (eds), 1990. Handbook of chemical property estimation methods. Am Chem Soc, Washington DC, 4.1-33, 5.1-30, 15.1-34.

Mabey W and Mill T, 1978. Critical review of hydrolysis of organic compounds in water under environmental conditions. J Phys Chem Ref Data 7, 383-415.

Mackay D and Paterson S, 1981. Calculating fugacity. Environ Sci Technol 15, 1006-1014.

McCarthy, 1984. Personal communication to D. Ferguson, August 20, 1984 [genotoxicity, reproductive and carcinogenicity testing results for simple acrylates, simple methacrylates, substituted acrylates/methacrylates and multifunctional acrylates/methacrylates]. Rohm and Haas, Philadelphia, PA.

McGregor DB, Brown A, Cattanach P, Edwards I, McBride DM, Riach C and Caspary WJ, 1988. Responses of the L5178Y tk+/tk- mouse lymphoma cell forward mutation assay: III. 72 coded chemicals. Environ Molec Mutagen 12, 85-154.

McLaughlin JE, Baldwin RC and Smith JM, 1993. Ethyl acrylate health effects assessment. In: Tyler TR, Murphy SR and Hunt EK (eds). Health effect assessments of the basic acrylates. CRC Press, Boca Raton, CA, 53-81.

Miller RR, Jersey GA Betso, JE Rampy LW (1979). 30-Day ethyl acrylate vapor inhalation study wiht rats and mice, final report. Dow Chemical USA, Midland, MI.

Miller RR, Ayres JA, Rampy LW and McKenna MJ, 1981. Metabolism of acrylate esters in rat tissue homogenates. Fund Appl Tox 1, 410-414.

Miller RR, Young JT, Kociba RJ, Keyes DG, Bodner KM, Calhoun LL and Ayres JA, 1985. Chronic toxicity and oncogenicity bioassay of inhaled ethyl acrylate in Fisher 344 reats and B6C3F, mice. Drug Chem Tox 8, 1-42.

Millis S, Brock K, Dearfield K and Moore MM, 1988. Mutagenicity of six acrylate compounds in L5178Y mouse lymphoma cells. EMS abstracts 11, 169.

Moore MM, Amtower A, Doerr CL, Brock KH, Dearfield KL, 1988. Genotoxicity of acrylic acid, methyl acrylate, ethyl acrylate, methyl methacrylate, and ethyl methacrylate in L5178Y mouse lymphoma cells. Environ Molec Mutagen 11, 49-63.

Moore MM, Harrington-Brock K, Doerr CL and Dearfield KL, 1989. Differential mutant quantitation at the mouse lymphoma tk and CHO hgprt loci. Mutagenesis 4, 393-403.

Moore MM, Parker L, Huston J, Harrington-Brock K and Dearfield KL, 1991. Comparison of mutagenicity results for nine compounds evaluated at the *hgprt* locus in the standard and suspension CHO assays. Mutagenesis 6, 77-85.

Morimoto K, Tsuji K, Osawa R and Takahashi A, 1990. [DNA damage test in forestomach squamous epithelium of F344 rat following oral administration of ethyl acrylate]. Esei Shikensho Hokoku 108, 125-128 [Japanese].

Morimoto K, Tsuji K, lio T, Miyata N, Uchida A, Osawa R, Kitsutaka H and Takahashi A, 1991. DNA damage in forestomach epithelium from male F344 rats following oral administration of *tert*-butylquinone, one of the forestomach metabolites of 3-BHA. Carcinogenesis 12, 703-708.

Munshi HB, Rama Rao KVS and Iyer RM, 1989. Rate constants of the reactions of ozone with nitriles, acrylates and terpenes in gas phase. Atmos Environ 23, 1971-1976.

Murray JS, Miller RR, Deacon MM, Hanley TR, Hayes WC, Rao KS and John JA, 1981. Teratological evaluation of inhaled ethyl acrylate in rats. Tox Appl Pharmacol 60, 106-111.

Myhr BC, 1980. Mutagenicity evaluation of ethyl acrylate monomer in the mouse lymphoma forward mutation assay. Litton Bionetics. BAMM, Washington DC.

Nemec JW and Bauer W, 1978. Acrylic acid and derivates. In: Mark HF, Othmer DF, Overberger CG and Seaborg GT (eds), Kirk-Othmer encyclopedia of chemical technology and derivivatives, 3rd ed, vol 1. John Wiley, New York, 330-354.

Oberly R and Tansy MF, 1985.  $LC_{50}$  values for rats acutely exposed to vapors of acrylic and methacrylic acid esters. J Toxicol Environ Health 16, 811-822.

Oettel H and Hofmann HT, 1958. Bericht über die toxikologische Prüfung verschiedener Acrylsäureester. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

Oettel H and Zeller H, 1958. Bericht über die Prüfung der Haut- und Schleimhautreizwirkung verschiedener Acrylsäureester. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

Oettel H and Hofmann HT, 1960. Bericht über die toxikologische Prüfung verschiedener Acrylsäureester an Kaninchen und Katzen. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

Ohta H, Kinjo S and Osajima Y, 1987. Glass capillary gas chromatographic analysis of volatile components of canned Philippine pineapple juice. J Chromatogr, 409-412

Opdyke, D.L.J. (1975). Ethyl acrylate, monograph on raw materials 17. Food Cosmet Toxicol suppl 13, 801-802.

Parker L, Brock K, Dearfield K and Moore MM, 1988. Mutagenicity of six acrylate compounds in Chinese hamster ovary cells grown in suspension. EMS abstracts 11, 82.

Parsons JS and Mitzner S, 1975. Gas chromatographic method for concentration and analysis of traces of industrial organic pollutants in environmental air and stacks. Environ Sci Technol 9, 1053-1057.

Parsons RD, Baldwin RC and Hayes 1981. Delayed contact hypersensitivity of Guinea pigs to ethyl acrylate. Toxicologist 1, 17.

Paulet G and Vidal M, 1975. De la toxicité de quelques esters acryliques et méthacryliques, de l'acrylamide et des polyacrylamides. Arch Mal Prof Med Trav Sec Soc 36, 58-60.

Pellizzari, E.D., Hartwell, T.D., Crowder, J. and Bursey, J.T. (1984). Evaluation of interpretive methods used on pollution data. Presented at: 77th Annual Meeting of the Air Pollution Control Association. Proc APCA Ann Meet 77, 84-17.1-32.

Pietrowicz D, Owecka A and Baranski B, 1980. Disturbances in rat's embryonal development due to ethyl acrylate. Zwierzeta Laboratoryjne 17, 67-72.

Pozzani UC, Weil CS and Carpenter CP, 1949. Subacute vapor toxicity and range-finding data for ethyl acrylate. J Ind Hyg Tox 31, 311-316.

Price KS, Waggy GT and Conway RA, 1974. Brine shrimp bioassay and seawater BOD of petrochemicals. J Water Pollut Control Fed 46, 63-77.

Przybojewska B, Dziubaltowska E and Kowalski Z, 1984. Genotoxic effects of ethyl acrylate and methyl acrylate in the mouse evaluated by the micronucleus test. Mutation Res 135, 189-191.

Randolph WF, 1982. Ethyl acrylate and methyl acrylate, proposed removal from GRAS status as indirect human food ingredients. Fed Reg 47, 29963-29965.

Rohm and Haas, 1950. Acute toxicity studies, group III: methyl acrylate and ethyl acrylate. Prepared by Munch Res. Lab. Rohm and Haas, Spring House PA.

Rohm and Haas, 1979. Ethyl acrylate: microbial mutagen testing. Prepared by O'Neil PJ and Scribner HE. Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Rohm and Haas, 1981. Ethyl acrylate, microbial mutagen test. Prepared by Melly JG, Lohse K and O'Neill PJ. Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Rohm and Haas, 1983. Ethyl acrylate: liquid suspension test. Prepared by Byers M and O'Neill PJ. Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Rohm and Haas, 1984. Toxicity report, ethyl acrylate monomer, acute oral LD $_{50}$ , definitive, rats. Acute intraperitoneal LD $_{50}$ , definitive, rats. Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Rohm and Haas, 1986a. Toxicity report, acute dermal  $LD_{so}$  definitive, rats (occluded). Prepared by Morrison RD and Hazelton GA. Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Rohm and Haas, 1986b. Toxicity report, acute dermal LD<sub>50</sub>, definitive, rats (unoccluded). Prepared by Morrison RD and Hazelton GA. Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Rohm and Haas, 1986c. Toxicity report, acute dermal  $LD_{50}$ , definitive, mice (occluded). Prepared by Morrison RD and Hazelton GA. Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Rohm and Haas, 1986d. Toxicity report, acute dermal LD $_{50}$ , definitive, mice (unoccluded). Prepared by Morrison RD and Hazelton GA. Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA

Rohm and Haas, 1986e. Ethyl acrylate: 2-week oral (gavage) study in rats. Prepared by Kryzywicki KM, Hazelton GA and Frantz JD. Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Rohm and Haas, 1991. Ethyl acrylate (15 ppm MEHQ). Skin irritation study in rabbits. Prepared by Bernacki HJ and Hamilton JD. Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Samimi B and Falbo L, 1982. Monitoring of workers exposure to low levels of airborne monomers in a polystyrene production plant. Am Ind Hyg Assoc J 43, 858-862.

Sanders JM, Burka LT and Matthews HB, 1988. Metabolism and disposition of *n*-butyl acrylate in male Fischer rats. Drug Metabolism and Disposition 16, 429-434

Sandmeier EE and Kirmin CJ, 1978. Esters. In: Patty's industrial hygiene and toxicology, 3rd ed, vol 2A. John Wiley, New York, 2296.

Sasaki S, 1978. The scientific aspects of the chemical substance control law in Japan. In: Hutzinger O, Van Lelyveld LH and Zoeteman BCJ (eds), Aquatic Pollutants: Transformation and biological effects. Pergamon, Oxford, 283-298.

Schwartz BS, Doty RL, Monroe C, Frye R and Barker S, 1989. Olfactory function in chemical workers exposed to acrylate and methacrylate vapors. Am J Public Health 79, 613-618.

Seutter E and Rijntjes NVM, 1981. Whole-body autoradiography after systemic and topical administration of methyl acrylate in the Guinea Pig. Dermatol Res 340, 273-284.

Silver EH and Murphy SD, 1981. Potentiation of acrylate ester toxicity by prior treatment with the carboxylesterase inhibitor triorthotolyl phosphate (TOTP). Tox Appl Pharmacol 57, 208-219.

Silver EH, Leith DE and Murphy SD, 1981. Potentiation by triorthotolyl phosphate of acrylate ester - induced alterations in respiration. Toxicology 22, 193-203. SRI International, 1987. Acrylic acid and acrylic esters. In: SRI International. International directory of chemical producers in Western Europe. SRI International, Menlo Park, CA.

SRI International, 1990. Acrylic acid and esters. Chemical Economics Handbook. SRI International, Menlo Park, CA,

Stahl WH, 1973. Compilation of odor and taste threshold values data. Data series DS48. ASTM, Baltimore MD.

Steele VE, Arnold JT, Van Arnold J and Mass MJ, 1989. Evaluation of a rat tracheal epithelial cell culture assay system to identify respiratory carcinogens. Environ Mol Mutagen 14, 48-54.

Stott WT and McKenna MJ, 1984. The comparative absorption and excretion of chemical vapors by the upper, lower and intact respiratory tract of rats. Fund Applied Tox 4, 594-602.

Tanii H and Hashimoto K, 1982. Structure-toxicity relationship of acrylates and methacrylates. Toxicol. Letters 11, 125-129.

Tepikina LA et al, 1988. [Sanitary and chemical analysis and toxicological and hygienic evaluation of ethylacrylate in atmospheric air]. Gig Sanit 11, 64-65 [Russian; abstract].

Thomas RG, 1982. Volatilisation from water. In: Lyman WJ, Reehl WF and Rosenblatt DH (ed). Handbook of chemical property estimation methods. Environmental behaviour of organic compounds. McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York, 15, 1-17.

Tomlinson HL, Donaldson RH and Frederick CB, 1989. Absorption and evaporation of ethyl acrylate following dermal exposure. Toxicologist 9, 162 [abstract and presentation].

Toulemonde B and Beauverdi D, 1985. Headspace analysis: trap desorption by microwave energy application to the volatile components of some tropical fruits. In: Adda J (ed). Progress in flavour research. Proc. 4th Weurman flavour research symp, Dourdan, France, 9-11 May. Elsevier Science, Amsterdam, 533-548.

Treon JF, Sigmon H, Wright H and Kitzmiller K, 1949. The toxicity of methyl and ethyl acrylate. J. Ind. Hyg. Tox. 31, 317-325.

Udinsky JR and Frederick CB, 1989. The enzymatic hydrolysis of ethyl acrylate by rat tissue homogenates. Toxicologist 9, 238 [abstract].

UK-HSE (UK Health and Safety Executive), 1992. Ethyl acrylate. In: Occupational exposure limits 1992, HMSO, London.

US-EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), 1987. Health and environmental effects profile for ethyl acrylate. Rep. EPA/600/X-87/162. Environmental Criteria and Assesment Office, US EPA, Cincinnati, OH, v.

US-FDA (US Food and Drug Administration), 1982. Proposed removal from GRAS status as indirect human food ingredients (21 CFR part 182) [ethyl acrylate and methacrylate]. Fed Reg 47, 29963-29965.

US-FDA (US Food and Drug Administration), 1986a. Polymer substances for food treatment: ion-exchange resins. Code of Federal Regulations, 21, Section 173.25.

US-FDA (US Food and Drug Administration), 1986b. Indirect food additives: substances for use only as components of adhesives. Code of Federal Regulations, 21, Section 175.105.

US-FDA (US Food and Drug Administration), 1986c. Indirect food additives: components of paper and paperboard in contact with aqueous and fatty foods. Code of Federal Regulations, 21, Section 176.170.

US-FDA (US Food and Drug Administration), 1986d. Substances for use as basic components of single and repeated use food contact surfaces: acrylic and modified acrylic plastics, semirigid and rigid. Code of Federal Regulations, 21, Section 177.1010.

US-NIOSH (National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health), 1984. Ethyl acrylate. In: Manual of analytical methods, 3rd ed. NIOSH, Cincinnati OH 1450, 1-6.

US-NTP (US National Toxicology Programme), 1986. Carcinogenesis studies of ethyl acrylate (CAS # 140-88-5) in F344/N rats and B6C3F, mice (gavage studies). TR 259. NTP, Research Triangle Park NC.

Valencia R, Mason JM, Woodruff RC and Zimmering S, 1985. Chemical mutagenesis testing in *Drosophila* III. Results of 48 coded compounds tested for the National Toxicology Program. Environ Mutagen 7, 325-348.

Van der Walle HB and Bensink T, 1982. Cross reaction pattern of 26 acrylic monomers on guinea pig skin. Contact Dermatitis 8, 376-382.

Van der Walle HB, Delbressine LPC and Seutter E, 1982a. Concomitant sensitization to hydroquinone and *p*-methoxyphenol in the guinea pig, inhibitors in acrylic monomers. Contact Dermatitis 8, 147-154.

Van der Walle HB, Klecak G, Geleick H and Bensink T, 1982b. Sensitizing potential of 14 mono-(meth)acrylates in the guinea pig. Contact Dermatitis 8, 223-235.

Waegemaekers THJM and Bensink MPM, 1984. Non-mutagenicity of 27 aliphatic acrylate esters in the Salmonella-microsome test. Mutation Res 137, 95-102.

Walker AM, Cohen AJ, Loughlin JE, Rothman KJ and DeFonso LR, 1991. Mortality from cancer of the colon or rectum among workers exposed to ethyl acrylate and methyl methacrylate. Scand J Work Environ Health, 17, 7-19.

Warner JR, Hughes TJ and Claxton LD, 1988. Mutagenicity of 16 volatile organic chemicals in a vaporization technique with Salmonella typhimurium TA100. EMS abstracts 11, 111-112.

White LD, Taylor DG, Mauer PA and Kupel R, 1970. A convenient optimized method for the analysis of selected solvent vapors in the industrial atmospheres. Am Ind Hyg Ass J 31, 225-232.

Yasuhara A, 1987. Comparison of volatile components between fresh and rotten mussels by gas chromatographymass spectrometry. J Chromatogr 409, 251-258.

Yocom JE, Hijazi NH and Zoldak JJ, 1984. Use of direct analysis mass spectrometry to solve indoor air quality problems. Proc Internat Conf Indoor Air Quality, Clin, 3rd ed, 245-250.

Zimmermann FK and Mohr A, 1992. Formaldehyde, glyoxal, urethane, methyl carbalmate, 2,3-butanedione, 2,3-hexanedione, ethyl acrylate, dibromoacetonitrile and 2-hydroxypropionitrile induce chromosome loss in Saccharomyces cerevisae. Mutat Res 270, 151-166.

# **ACKNOWLEDGEMENT**

During the preparation of this JACC report, use was made of a review by the US Basic Acrylic Monomer Manufacturers Association (BAMM) (McLaughlin *et al*, 1991). Both the JACC report and BAMM review are based on an original literature collection and evaluation by Dr. H. Zeller; his preparatory work is gratefully acknowledged. Ecotoxicological references were supplied partly by the German 'Beratergremium für umweltrelevante Altstoffe' (BUA).

# MEMBERS OF THE TASK FORCE

M. WOODER (Chairman)

ROHM and HAAS

UK - Croydon

J. BAKES<sup>1</sup> ELF ATOCHEM

F - Paris

W. DRUSCHKE BASF

D - Ludwigshafen

S. JACOBI RÖHM

D - Darmstadt

A. LOMBARD ELF ATOCHEM

F - Paris

J. MACKAY ZENECA

GB - Macclesfield

P. MASON BP CHEMICALS

GB - London

W. MAYR DEGUSSA

D - Hanau

R. MUNK BASF

D - Ludwigshafen

A. POOLE DOW EUROPE

CH - Horgen

N. SCHOLZ<sup>1</sup> HÜLS

D - Marl

C. W. TIMMS PROCTER AND GAMBLE

D - Schwalbach

H.-J. WIEGAND HÜLS

D - Marl

H. VRIJHOF (Secretary) ECETOC

B - Brussels

# MEMBERS OF THE SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE

# (Peer Review Committee)

W. F. TORDOIR (Chairman), Head, Occupational	SHELL
Health and Toxicology Division	NL - Den Haag

H. VERSCHUUREN (Vice-Chairman), Head,
Toxicology Department

DOW EUROPE
CH - Horgen

O. C. BØCKMAN, Scientific Advisor

NORSK HYDRO

N - Porsgrunn

N. G. CARMICHAEL, Toxicology Director Worldwide RHÔNE-POULENC F - Lyon

H. DE HENAU<sup>1</sup>, European Technical Centre, PROCTER AND GAMBLE Professional and Regulatory Services B - Brussels

A. DE MORSIER, Head, Ecotoxicology

CIBA-GEIGY
CH - Basel

P. A. GILBERT, Head, Environmental Division

UNILEVER

GB - Port Sunlight

I. J. GRAHAM-BRYCE, Head, Environmental Affairs SHELL NL - Den Haag

B. HILDEBRAND<sup>1</sup>, Director, Experimental Toxicology BASF AG D - Ludwigshafen

J. R. JACKSON, Director, Medicine and Health
Science

MONSANTO EUROPE
B - Brussels

K. KÜNSTLER, Head, Biological Research HENKEL D - Düsseldorf

H. LAGAST, Chief Medical Officer SOLVAY
B - Brussels

E. LÖSER, Head, Institute of Industrial Toxicology BAYER
D - Wuppertal

R. MILLISCHER<sup>1</sup>, Chief Toxicologist ELF ATOCHEM F - Paris

I. F .H. PURCHASE, Director, Central Toxicology
Laboratory

ZENECA
GB - Macclesfield

Stewards responsible for primary peer review

#### **TECHNICAL REPORTS**

#### No. Title

- No. 1 Assessment of Data on the Effects of Formaldehyde on Humans. May 81
  No. 2 The Mutagenic and Carcinogenic Potential of Formaldehyde. May 81
- No. 3 Assessment of Test Methods for Photodegradation of Chemicals in the Environment. Aug 81
- No. 4 The Toxicology of Ethylene Glycol Monoalkyl Ethers and its Relevance to Man, Jul 82
- No. 5 Toxicity of Ethylene Oxide and its Relevance to Man. Sep 82
- No. 6 Formaldehyde Toxicology: an Up-Dating of the ECETOC Technical reports 1 and 2. Sep 82
- No. 7 Experimental Assessment of the Phototransformation of Chemicals in the Atmosphere. Sep 82
- No. 8 Biodegradation Testing: An Assessment of the Present Status. Nov 83
- No. 9 Assessment of Reverse-Phase Chromatographic Methods for Determining Partition Coefficients. Dec 83
- No. 10 Considerations Regarding the Extrapolation of Biological Data in Deriving Occupational Exposure Limits. Feb 84
- No. 11 Ethylene Oxide Toxicology and its Relevance to Man : An Up-Dating of ECETOC Technical Report n°5. Mar 84
- No. 12 The Phototransformation of Chemicals in Water: Results of a Ring-Test. Jun 84
- No. 13 The EEC 6th Amendment : A Guide to Risk Evaluation for Effects on the Environment. Mar 84
- No. 14 The EEC 6th Amendment: A Guide to Risk Evaluation for Effects on Human Health. Mar 94
- No. 15 The Use of Physical-Chemical Properties in the 6th Amendment and their Required Precision, Accuracy and Limiting Values. Jun 84
- No. 16 A review of Recent Literature on the Toxicology of Benzene, Dec 84
- No. 17 The Toxicology of Glycol Ethers and its Relevance to Man : An Up-Dating of ECETOC Technical Report n°4. Apr 85
- No. 18 Harmonisation of Ready Biodegradability Tests. Apr 85
- No. 19 An Assessment of Occurrence and Effects of Dialkyl-o-Phthalates in the Environment. May 85
- No. 20 Biodegradation Tests for Poorly-Soluble Compounds. Feb 86
- No. 21 Guide to the Classification of Carcinogens, Mutagens and Teratogens Under the 6th Amendment. Feb 86
- No. 22 Classification of Dangerous Substances and Pesticides in the EEC Directives. A Proposed Revision of Criteria for Inhalational Toxicity, 87
- No. 23 Evaluation of the Toxicity of Substances to be Assessed for Biodegradability. Nov 86
- No. 24 The EEC 6th Amendment : Prolonged Fish Toxicity Tests. Oct 86
- No. 25 Evaluation of Fish Tainting. Jan 87
- No. 26 The Assessment of Carcinogenic Hazard for Human Beings Exposed to Methylene Chloride, Jan 87
- No. 27 Nitrate and Drinking Water. Jan 88
- No. 28 Evaluation of Anaerobic Biodegradation. Jun 88
- No. 29 Concentrations of Industrial Organic Chemicals Measured in the Environment: The Influence of Physico- Chemical Properties, Tonnage and Use Pattern.

  Jun 88
- No. 30(5) Existing Chemicals: Literature Reviews and Evaluations. 94
- No. 31 The Mutagenicity and Carcinogenicity of Vinyl Chloride: A Historical Review and Assessment, Jul 88
- No. 32 Methylene Chloride (Dichloromethane): Human Risk Assessment Using Experimental Animal Data, May 88
- No. 33 Nickel and Nickel Compounds: Review of Toxicology and Epidemiology with Special Reference to Carcinogenesis. Feb 89
- No. 34 Methylene Chloride (Dichloromethane): An Overview of Experimental Work Investigating Species, Differences in Carcinogenicity and their Relevance to Man. Mar 89
- No. 35 Fate, Behaviour and Toxicity of Organic Chemicals Associated with Sediments. Jan 90
- No. 36 Biomonitoring of Industrial Effluents. Apr 90
- No. 37 Tetrachloroethylene : Assessment of Human Carcinogenic Hazard. May 90
- No. 38 A Guide to the Classification of Preparations Containing Carcinogens, Mutagens and Teratogens, Jul 90
- No. 39 Hazard Assessment of Floating Chemicals After an Accidental Spill at Sea. Jul 90
- No. 40 Hazard Assessment of Chemical Contaminents in Soil. Aug 90
- No. 41 Human Exposure to N-Nitrosmaines, Their Effects and a Risk Assessment for n-Nitrosodiethanolamine in Personal Care Products, Aug 90
- No. 42 Critical Evaluation of Methods for the Determination of N-Nitrosamines in Personal Care and Household Products. Feb 91
- No. 43 Emergency Exposure Indices for Industrial Chemicals. Mar 91
- No. 44 Biodegradation Kinetics. Sep 91
- No. 45 Nickel, Cobalt and Chromium in Consumer Products: Allergic Contact Dermatitis. Mar 92
- No. 46 EC 7th Amendment: Role of Mammalian Toxicokinetic and Metabolic Studies in the Toxicological Assessment of Industrial Chemicals. May 92
- No. 47 EC 7th Amendment: 'Toxic to Reproduction' Guidance on Classification. Aug 92
- No. 48 Eye Irritation: Reference Chemicals Data Bank. Aug 92
- No. 49 Exposure of Man to Dioxins: A Perspective on Industrial Waste Incineration. Sep 92
- No. 50 Estimating the Environmental Concentrations of Chemicals Using Fate and Exposure Models. Nov 92
- No. 51 Environmental Hazard Assessment of Substances. Jan 93
- No. 52 Styrene Toxicology Investigations on the Potential for Carcinogenicity. Nov 92
- No. 53 DHTDMAC: Aquatic and Terrestrial Hazard Assessment. CAS No. 61789-80-8. Feb 93
- No. 54 Assessment of the Biodegradation of Chemicals in the Marine Environment. Aug 93
- No. 55 Pulmonary Toxicity of Polyalkylene Glycols. (in preparation)
- No. 56 Aquatic Toxicity Data Evaluation. Dec 93
- No. 57 Polypropylene Production and Colorectal Cancer. Feb 94
- No. 58 Assessment of Non-Occupational Exposure to Chemicals. May 94
- No. 59 Testing For Worker Protection. May 94
- No. 60 Trichloroethylene: Assessment of Human Carcinogenic Hazard. May 94
- No. 61 Environmental Exposure Assessment. Sep 94
- No. 62 Ammonia Emissions to Air in Western Europe. Jul 94